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Owners’ Representatives

Our owner councils are required to 
appoint three representatives to 
make and implement decisions on 
behalf of the councils and be the 
primary conduit between the Board 
and owners. Their duties include 
the selection and appointment 
of directors, preparation of the 
shareholders’ letter of expectations 
and liaison with the council owners.

The three owner representatives 
for Southern Water are:

Cr Dr Graham Bury  
Mayor, Kingborough Council

Mr Henry Edgell

Cr Tony Foster  
Mayor, Brighton Council

We are owned by the 12 southern 
councils who receive returns 
through dividends, tax equivalent 
payments and guarantee fees. 

Our owner councils are:

Brighton Council
Central Highlands Council
Clarence City Council
Derwent Valley Council
Glamorgan Spring Bay Council
Glenorchy City Council
Hobart City Council
Huon Valley Council
Kingborough Council
Sorell Council
Southern Midlands Council
Tasman Council

Southern Water is an incorporated company delivering water 
and sewerage services to homes and businesses across southern 
Tasmania. We commenced operations on 1 July 2009 and operate 
under four key pieces of legislation: the Water and Sewerage 
Corporations Act 2008 (Tas), the Water and Sewerage Industry 
Act 2008 (Tas), the Water and Sewerage Industry (General) 
Regulations 2009 (Tas) and the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

About Southern Water
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Scope of business in 2011-12
Service area 25,483 sq km
Population 252,543
Properties serviced by water 98,915
Properties serviced by sewerage 88,121
Employees 407
Total volume of water sourced 39,787 megalitres
Total volume of sewage collected 24,433 megalitres
Total net asset value $923,138,000

Assets
Length of water mains 3,049 km
Drinking water treatment plants/dosing stations 29
Water supply dams 67
Pump stations 394
Catchments 48
Length of sewer mains 2,096 km
Level 1 sewage treatment plants 17
Level 2 sewage treatment plants 31

2011-12 at a glance

The	Berriedale	to	Elwick	 
Pipeline	Duplication	Project	-	 

the	old	and	new	pipelines	 
are	suspended	under	the	 

Bowen	Bridge	to	cross	 
the	River	Derwent.



SOUTHERN WATER 2011-12 ANNUAL REPORT 6 SOUTHERN WATER 2011-12 ANNUAL REPORT 7

Our guiding principles
In	achieving	this	vision	we	will	continue	to	follow	our 
four	guiding	principles:
Better communities  
We will foster better communities by addressing local  
issues for local solutions through listening, understanding  
and developing innovative options. 
No harm  
We will be a business that prevents harm in any form.
It’s up to us  
We are in this for the long-term and, by working as a team, 
we will succeed.
Lasting value  
We will deliver products and services whose whole-of-life 
benefits outweigh their costs.

Our core values
Leadership  
We will set the agenda for future water management by taking  
a professional approach and encouraging innovative thinking.
Courage  
We are prepared to make the difficult decisions for the long-term 
benefit of our customers, owners and the environment and to 
stand by those decisions and face up to criticism.
Openness  
We will set expectations and communicate with clearness and respect.
Collaboration  
We will consult and discuss, work as a team and listen.
Quality  
We will build our assets to last, take pride in our workmanship 
and deliver on our promises.
Efficiency  
We will get it right the first time, look for smarter solutions and 
continual improvement while keeping control of our budget.
Safety  
We will ensure the safety of all staff, the quality of our water supply 
and management of sewage, and protect the environment.

Our vision is to create lasting value for our communities  
by providing sustainable water and sewerage solutions. 

Our Vision

Southern	Midlands	Mayor,	 
Tony	Bisdee	OAM,	and	Southern	
Water	Chairman,	Miles	Hampton,	

celebrate	the	roofing	of	the	
Kempton	Reservoir.
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Our Strategic Objectives

1 Customer Service Excellence program launched  
to improve the level of service we provide 
to our customers.

2 Customer Communications program expanded 
to inform customers about pricing changes 
and the introduction of water meters.

3 Quarterly billing successfully introduced.
4 First Price and Service Plan developed and approved.
5 More than 54,000 water meters installed 

on unmetered properties.
6 Delivered a capital works program totalling  

$61.8 million to improve services to customers.
7 Berriedale to Elwick Pipeline Duplication project 

completed, securing water supplies for  
the greater Hobart area.

8 Huon Valley Regional Water Scheme entered 
commissioning phase.

9 Further improved sewerage system performance 
resulting in an aggregate improvement of 
29 per cent over the past three years. 

10 People and Capability Framework project 
implemented to support business needs 
by developing the skills of employees.

11 Delivered an after tax profit of $12.14 million.

Highlights for 2011-12
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To achieve our vision we set 
four key objectives in our 
Corporate Plan for 2011-12:
Customers  
To provide water and sewerage 
services that meet community 
needs, regulatory requirements and 
agreed customer service standards.
Financial  
To invest in sustainable programs 
and projects that achieve the lowest 
life cycle cost to customers while 
delivering sustainable 
distributions to our owners.
Environment  
To be recognised as an 
environmentally sustainable 
business with improving levels of 
performance in our stewardship 
of catchments, receiving waters 
and the use of natural resources.
People and systems  
To promote high levels of satisfaction 
among our people while improving 
health and safety and focusing on 
business system performance and 
automation to minimise costs.

In support of these 
objectives, we adopted 
the following strategies:
Customers  
To understand our customers’ 
expectations and achieve 
a reputation for delivering 
excellent customer service.
To integrate the Price and 
Service Plan across the business 
to meet regulatory timeframes 
and develop appropriate 
transparent pricing approvals.
Financial  
To ensure the organisation has an 
appropriate long-term capital 
structure, sustainable returns to our 
owners and, as a minimum, 
maintain a BBB financial rating.
To plan and execute an asset build/
refurbishment program to meet our 
customer charter, regulatory 
obligations, service new customers 
and to meet agreed cost targets.
Environmental  
To minimise impacts on the 
environment and, where possible, 
enhance/improve 
environmental quality. 
To investigate options for dealing 
with the impacts of climate 
change within the region.
People and systems  
To ensure key strategic capabilities 
and skills are available in house. 
To develop a Southern Water 
culture underpinned by 
our vision and values.
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Miles	Hampton 
Chairman

In each of our first two years of operation,  
Southern Water confronted significant challenges on 
many fronts as we sought to become fully functional 
as a newly-established stand-alone business.

Chairman’s Report

The implementation of our new billing system has led to significant 
improvements in the timeliness and accuracy of billing services and 
enabled us to commence debtor management processes that had 
been put on hold while we operated with interim billing systems.

Towards a single corporation

In September 2011, on behalf of the boards of the four corporations,  
I proposed to our owner councils that Southern Water, Ben Lomond 
Water, Cradle Mountain Water and common services provider,  
Onstream, be merged to form a single statewide water 
and sewerage corporation.

The directors of Southern Water had reached the view that a merger 
of the four corporations would be in the best interests of our 
customers, our employees and our owners. 

It is our belief that the Tasmanian community will be better served 
by a single corporation: that such a move would make it easier to 
ensure a consistent statewide approach, which is necessary to facilitate 
investment and development, and achieve significant financial savings.

In early September 2011, the Onstream Board took the first step 
towards rationalisation when it decided to co-locate Onstream 
staff members statewide with Southern Water, Ben Lomond Water 
and Cradle Mountain Water respectively. The co-location has 
increased the synergy between shared services and the regional 
corporations, enhanced customer service and enabled ongoing 
annual financial savings of some $2.3 million per annum.   

In June 2012 our council owners reaffirmed their in-principle support 
for the amalgamation of the four corporations and agreed their 
preferred governance arrangements for a single corporation.

The directors of Southern Water look forward to contributing to 
the process of transition, confident that the corporation is now 
sufficiently well-established to effectively manage the challenges that 
will have to be addressed as we move through the merger process.

It is our hope that the decision to take a proactive approach will 
ensure that structural changes to our industry can be achieved quickly, 
efficiently and without impacting on service delivery to our customers.

The number of business critical challenges continued in the year under 
review. As was the case in our first years, our people have responded 
positively to the extraordinary demands placed on them. As a result, 
the business has finished the year in a much more robust position.

In 2011-12 we had before us two very significant non-negotiable 
deadlines: the legislated introduction of two-part pricing by 1 July 
2012, which involved the installation of more than 54,000 water meters 
across southern Tasmania, and the preparation and finalisation of our 
Price and Service Plan for the three years commencing 1 July 2012. 

The meter installation program was delivered on time and well 
within budget, a credit to all involved in the planning, management 
and delivery of the very demanding work schedule.

The preparation of the Price and Service Plan, its subsequent 
review and ultimate approval by the Tasmanian Economic 
Regulator was a significant whole-of-business task. The fact that 
the Regulator largely endorsed the Plan prepared by Southern 
Water reflects the effort and thought that underpinned it.

The approval of the Plan means that from 1 July 2012 our customers 
will be moving to a fairer and more equitable pricing regime for water 
and sewerage services. Over time, customers with like services will pay 
like charges, irrespective of where they live in the southern region.

The fact that we met these deadlines, while maintaining our 
focus on improving water and sewerage services to customers, 
achieving greater business efficiency, improving safety 
performance and building a more cohesive workforce, is a 
significant achievement for the corporation as a whole.

During the year we continued to deliver on other important 
projects: work was completed on the Berriedale to Elwick Pipeline 
Duplication project to provide a back-up to the vital West Derwent 
Pipeline carrying water to Hobart’s eastern and western shores, 
and we commenced commissioning the new infrastructure 
developed as part of the Huon Valley Regional Water Scheme. 

Our after tax profit this year was $12.14 million, 
down slightly from $13.09 million in 2010-11.

The Board is very aware of the potential impact of these changes on 
employees of the corporation.

While uncertainty is inevitable at such a time, the reality is that for the 
vast majority of employees nothing will change. They will continue their 
vital work in maintaining, upgrading and building water and sewerage 
infrastructure, delivering essential services to customers, improving the 
quality of drinking water, protecting the environment and facilitating the 
developments that bring real economic benefits to the state as a whole.

Leading the way

The Board is confident that the leadership team at each corporation will 
support and encourage employees through this period of transition.

For my part, I commend the commitment and professionalism of  
our CEO, Mike Paine, and his executive team, the hard work and 
perseverance of our employees and the diligence and support 
of my fellow directors.

During the year we welcomed a new director, Dr Jane Sargison.  
A Rhodes Scholar and 2011 National Professional Engineer of the 
Year, Dr Sargison is a professional mechanical engineer with 15 years 
experience in research and development in the energy and water 
sector. Her appointment has brought another dimension of expertise 
to the Board which is particularly welcome at this time of change.

As we prepare for a very different future, I’m confident we 
can continue to deliver the best outcomes for our owner 
councils, our employees and the people of Tasmania.

Miles Hampton 
Chairman

The	Executive	Team:	 
Back	Row:	Matthew	Pigden	-	Chief	Financial	

Officer,	Tony	Baker	-	Executive	Manager	People	
and	Culture,	Carolyn	Pillans	-	Executive	Manager	
Governance	&	Strategy	and	Company	Secretary,	

Ian	Dunbabin	-	Executive	Manager	Service	Delivery,	
Russell	Fox	-	Executive	Manager	 

Asset	Planning	and	Delivery.	
Front	Row:	Mike	Paine	-	Chief	Executive	Officer,	

Angela	Wright	-	Executive	Manager	 
Customer	Services.
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Water supply security  
for greater Hobart

Case Study

Hobart residents can raise their glasses to the successful completion 
of the $8.2 million Berriedale to Elwick and Bowen Bridge Pipeline 
Duplication Project. The work has helped to secure water supplies 
for 160,000 residents in Hobart and surrounding areas. 

The finalisation of the Berriedale-Elwick-Bowen Bridge section 
completed the duplication of the vital West Derwent Pipeline, which 
carries bulk water supplies from the Bryn Estyn Water Treatment 
Plant in the Derwent Valley to both the eastern and western shores 
of Hobart. 

The original pipeline has been in operation for 50 years and is at risk 
of corrosion and potential failure. The new pipeline, which is coated 
in modern corrosion-resistant material, takes pressure off this ageing 
original infrastructure and ensures water supplies can be maintained 
if the old line fails.

The West Derwent Pipeline carries about 60 per cent of Hobart’s 
drinking water throughout the year, increasing to as much as  
90 per cent during the summer months. 

The duplication of the existing pipeline section crossing the Bowen 
Bridge provided some special challenges for construction crews. 

This part of the project involved lifting the pipes under the bridge 
structure and moving them into place on a large trolley. The 648mm 
diameter steel pipe was then connected to the bridge using steel  
straps, leaving the pipe effectively hanging under the bridge structure 
beside the original section of pipeline.

Celebrating	the	end	 
of	the	project,	(from	left) 

Miles	Hampton	 
(Chairman	Southern	Water),	 

Ald.	Doug	Chipman	 
(Clarence	Mayor),	 

Ald.	Damon	Thomas	 
(Hobart	Lord	Mayor)	and	 

Ald.	Stuart	Slade	 
(Glenorchy	Mayor).
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Reflecting on the objectives we set for our business 
12 months ago, I am pleased to be able to report that 
we have made excellent progress in all key areas. 

CEO’s Report

Improvements were made to treatment plants at Gretna and Margate 
to reduce environmental risks and an upgrade of the Ranelagh Plant 
is under way. Upgrades are also planned for treatment plants at 
Brighton, Dover and New Norfolk. 

Changes have been implemented to improve supply reliability of 
reuse water from sewerage treatment plants in the Clarence region. 
The construction of the Duckhole Rivulet Dam in the Coal River Valley 
in mid-2013 will double the capacity of the South East Tasmania 
Recycled Water Scheme and enable supply and demand differences 
to be averaged over the year. 

Responding to customers

During the year we had an unprecedented level of contact with  
our customers. Issues ranged from the installation of water meters to 
implementing a new pricing system and collecting arrears.  
This culminated in almost 14,000 calls to our Customer Service 
Centre in May, placing considerable pressure on our capacity to 
deal with the volume in a prompt and acceptable timeframe. We 
have responded to this demand by implementing a number of 
changes to our Customer Service Centre operations, including the 
introduction of a customer call back service, call monitoring to 
review the quality of information provided, as well as enhanced 
training and recruitment of Customer Service Centre agents.

We also initiated a Customer Service Excellence Program to improve 
the level of service we provide to our customers. Customer research 
conducted during the year indicated we had some ground to make  
up with our performance falling below expectations in several areas, 
including our ability to resolve issues promptly. 

During the roll out of our Water Metering Project we trialled a new 
approach to customer service with the establishment of a customer 
advocacy team to liaise with customers on a range of issues relating 
to the installation of the meters. The response from customers was 
overwhelmingly positive and enabled installation teams to focus  
on getting meters in the ground as quickly and efficiently as 
possible while minimising disruptions to customers. A customer 
advocacy program is now being established permanently 
to ensure proactive management of customer issues.

We focused on the continuing transformation of 
Southern Water into a unified regional organisation 
with one culture, one set of management systems 
and a strong commitment to customer service, safety, 
business efficiency and environmental outcomes. 

We commenced a new Integrated Management 
System incorporating all our internal systems and 
processes to enable us to work effectively as one 
business with common goals and objectives. 

We began the implementation of the next phase of our billing 
system. Its improved functionality and efficiency will address 
customer concerns relating to the timeliness of accounts and 
will facilitate appropriate debtor management processes. 

Over the past year we have improved many aspects 
of our business performance, from the quality 
of services we provide to our customers to the 
financial returns delivered to our owners.

Improving performance 

We are continuing to address water quality and environmental 
issues across the region through the delivery of a capital 
works program that totalled $61.8 million this year. This 
program saw completion of stage 3 of the Margate Pipeline 
Duplication, construction of a new reservoir and associated 
works in Lenah Valley and good progress on the Reservoir 
Roofing Program. With roofing work completed on 18 
reservoirs, and well under way on the remaining four, we 
are on track to deliver this program by the end of 2012. 

We also gave a high priority to addressing long-standing 
problems with sewerage infrastructure in the southern 
region. As part of the development of our greater Hobart 
sewerage strategy we entered into a strategic partnership 
with the CSIRO to assess the impact of nutrients within 
the Derwent Estuary. This work will provide the rigorous 
science required to assist us to identify and prioritise future 
upgrades and underpin major investment decisions.

Eleven kilometres of ageing sewer mains in a number of areas 
including North Hobart, the Hobart Central Business District,  
Sandy Bay and Battery Point were given a new lease on life  
with the insertion of fibreglass liners under the $12 million 
sewer relining program. The program will continue in the 
2012-13 financial year to bring the performance of our 
sewerage infrastructure in line with national standards. 

Preparing our people

We recognise that in order to improve the services we provide to 
customers, our employees must be better skilled. We have just 
completed the second year of implementing our People Plan to align 
staffing requirements with business objectives and deliverables. 

During the year, 42 per cent of employees undertook skills development 
courses. Safety performance also continued to improve, reflecting the 
success of our strong commitment to prevent harm in any form.

When so much is happening in the external environment and there is 
pressure to perform in all parts of the business, it is easy to lose sight 
of the achievements of our people. During the year, we acknowledged 
the dedicated service of 59 employees who have recorded between 
five and 35 years of service in the water and sewerage industry. 

We also welcomed the co-location of 30 employees from Onstream 
to Southern Water’s headquarters at Moonah. This move has resulted 
in improved communications between the corporations and more 
efficient use of resources, delivering significant financial savings. 

Focus on the future

While I am proud of all our achievements during the past year, there are 
two projects, in addition to the Customer Service Excellence Program, 
that are worthy of special mention: the development of our Price 
and Service Plan and the delivery of the Water Metering Project.  

The metering project and the implementation of the Price and 
Service Plan will continue to require a sustained effort from 
all our people to ensure the benefits for our business, our 
customers and our community are realised for the long-term. 

I would like to acknowledge the efforts of all employees who 
worked so hard to ensure we met the delivery deadlines 
and the requirements of our external stakeholders.

My sincere thanks to the Chairman and members of the Board,  
the executive team and employees in all parts of the business for their 
support during the past year. Meeting the challenges ahead will continue 
to demand the flexibility, hard work and perseverance of all our people. 

 Mike Paine 
Chief Executive Officer

Mike	Paine 
Chief	Executive	Officer
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Using technology to manage meter installations

Case Study

The installation of more than 54,000 water meters on unmetered residential properties across 
southern Tasmania in just one year was largely completed, thanks to a combination of good planning,  
hard work and technology.

Facing an extremely short delivery timeframe and variable information on existing installations,  
a project management tool was commissioned to assist with locating stop taps, scheduling meter 
installations, completing quality assurance checks and obtaining first meter readings.

Unmetered properties were identified using a central spatial database, with the information then sent to 
the contractor for installation of meters in batches, and subsequently into billing and asset management 
systems. During the identification process, specific instructions from customers regarding the proposed 
location of meters was recorded and passed on to the contractor. Field officers received scheduled tasks via 
handheld units each day, ensuring information on the location of meters was included in pre-set workflows.

With different installation times required for meters in grass or concrete, the new technology meant that  
likely project expenditure could be forecast and monitored. Other benefits from the technology were  
the validation of customer details, asset data collection and the integration of the new meter reading system 
with billing processes. 

The tool won the 2012 Tasmanian iAward in the e-logistics and Supply Chain category and was a finalist 
in the national award scheme.

We provide a range of water and sewerage related services to customers  
throughout southern Tasmania.

Employees are involved in asset planning and strategy, project management  
and delivery, billing and commercial services, call centre operations, 
development and compliance approvals, metering, risk management, 
communications, governance, stakeholder management, legal services, training 
and development and implementation of the new Price and Service Plan.

More than half our workforce are employed in the field, operating and  
maintaining infrastructure to achieve the customer service levels set out  
in our Customer Charter and Customer Code. 

Field workers grapple daily with the challenges posed by ageing water and sewerage 
infrastructure, which is the focus of our targeted future capital investment 
and improvement programs. 

Preventative maintenance and upgrade work carried out during the year included cleaning 
and repairing approximately 25km of sewer reticulation lines and installing backflow 
prevention devices on 118 pump stations and five sewer pump stations in regional areas.

The crews completed 3,200 individual service activities to support the water meter roll out 
project and assisted with the installation of more than 190 non-residential meters 
for commercial customers.

Serving our customers 

Field services delivered to customers 2011-12 2010-11
Sewer blockages cleared 2,015 1,765
Stop taps repaired 766 1,977
Water leaks repaired 3,916 2,865
Service locations performed 1,529 2,303
New service connections completed 550 580
Water valves and fire hydrants inspected 3,003 1,487
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Delivering our first Price and Service Plan
With Southern Water inheriting around 150 different pricing 
tariffs across the region, the finalisation of our first Price and 
Service Plan for 2012 – 2015 was a major step forward. 

The Plan brought together three years of work to design a consistent 
set of tariff arrangements. It addresses the mixture of fixed and 
volumetric charges for customers living in metered areas and the 
range of charges based on the assessed annual value (AAV) of 
properties for customers on previously unmetered properties. 

Our draft Plan was released for public comment ahead of schedule 
in July 2011 with submissions received from 22 individuals 
and organisations. Feedback received from the consultation 
process and the Customer Consultative Group (CCG) was 
considered in preparing the final Plan, which was submitted 
to the Tasmanian Economic Regulator in November 2011. 

In making the pricing determination, the Regulator considered 
the impact of proposed price movements on customers, the 
revenue needed by Southern Water to deliver its services, and the 
investment required to bring water and sewerage assets to the 
required level to meet Australian standards and future demand.

While the Regulator’s final determination was largely in line with  
the Price and Service Plan we submitted, there were some areas  
in which the Regulator made recommendations to achieve  
state-wide policy consistency among the three water corporations.

Trade waste pricing

The Plan also includes standardised charges for the treatment 
and disposal of liquid trade waste from industrial, commercial, 
institutional, medical, dental, veterinary, agricultural and scientific 
activities. Now, a user-pays principle applies to waste which 
recognises that these sources require careful management, treatment 
and transport to avoid environmental or operational harm. 

Sewerage pricing: equivalent tenements project

A project team was assembled to deal with the complex issue of  
applying equitable sewerage charges for commercial customers based  
on the ‘equivalent tenement process’ used for residential customers.  
This is consistent with our philosophy of ‘same charge for same service’. 

The project involved an assessment of more than 10,000 commercial 
customers to profile their impact on the sewerage infrastructure. 
The team met a tight deadline to ensure accounts could be 
issued on time at the start of the 2012-13 financial year.

Our project team worked in close collaboration with Ben Lomond Water, 
Cradle Mountain Water and Onstream to maintain a consistent 
statewide approach.

Further developing our billing system
Significant progress has been made in delivering timely and 
accurate accounts to customers but performance over the year was 
generally below our expectations. We introduced quarterly billing 
in 2011-12 in preparation for two-part pricing post 1 July 2012. 

Phase one of our new billing system was completed in 2010-11 
and work continued in 2011-12 to implement the second phase. 
This involved linking billing information to other business systems 
to improve the reliable retrieval and processing of customer data. 
We are confident these changes will lead to continual performance 
improvement in the future.

A focus of attention has been the upload of 2011-12 pricing 
information for all customer installations in readiness for 
the introduction of two-part pricing.

The translation of the pricing arrangements into the billing system 
involved a six-month project coordinated by a Southern Water team 
working with Onstream and the other corporations. The challenge 
was to reconfigure the system to deal with new charge types, 
calculate sewerage charges in accordance with the equivalent 
tenement methodology, remove free water allowances and 
split trade waste charges from existing sewerage charges.

The billing system also provides an automated credit cycle reminder  
and debt collection process. By the end of the financial year,  
all customers with overdue accounts had been entered into the 
credit cycle, leading to the increased recovery of overdue debt. 

Responding to emergencies

Case Study

Emergencies aren’t always caused by ageing infrastructure: contractors or members of the public using 
equipment near underground pipes can cause problems that disrupt services to the community.

When a contractor accidentally drilled through a 250mm water main in Penna, a water spout was sent  
gushing into the air, showering onto neighbouring properties. Water supplies were disrupted to customers  
in the Sorell township while repairs were carried out. 

Thanks to the hard work of Southern Water’s Sorell response team, emergency repairs were completed 
within four hours. Our mobile water trailer provided drinking water for affected customers while  
repair work was undertaken.

A similar burst in a major bulk water feeder pipeline near Hobart Airport saw crews working from 
2.30pm to 4.00am to finalise repairs. 

The performance of our crews in dealing with emergencies helped earn us a customer satisfaction 
average rating of 6.4 out of seven for our service response in customer research conducted in 2011-12.

A	water	spout	gushes	into	
the	air	after	a	contractor	

accidentally	drilled	through	 
a	water	main	at	Penna.
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Customer Service Excellence Program initiated
The Customer Service Excellence Program was launched  
to improve customer service in all parts of the business. 
The program has three strands:

–  Our people at work, which is about working with employees to improve 
their knowledge and ability to deliver excellent customer service;

–  Business efficiency, which focuses on improving key 
processes to resolve customer issues first time and measure 
performance against customer requirements; and

–  Customer relationships, which aims to improve the way we manage 
interactions with our customers, from the front door to the field.

Our employees’ understanding and appreciation of the requirements  
of the Customer Charter and Customer Code continue to be enhanced. 
Key performance indicators are being developed for all employees 
to measure performance against customer requirements.

A customer accounts manager has been appointed to prioritise 
and manage service outcomes for customer groups.

Improving Customer Service Centre operations
Responding to the volume of customer contacts continues to be a 
major challenge and our performance in this area fell short during 
peak call periods, causing frustration for many customers.

The simultaneous focus on implementing two-part pricing and installing 
water meters resulted in a significant increase in customer calls and 
emails to the Customer Service Centre. In response, the number of 
agents increased to 15 positions and a range of other measures were 
introduced, including a customer call back service, improved training, 
quality monitoring and process improvements for dealing with emails.

In the 12-month period to 30 June 2012, the Customer Service Centre 
received 96,859 customer calls, of which 1,385 were categorised as 
complaints. A further 22,392 emails were logged relating to issues such 
as billing, pricing and metering, as well as emergencies affecting water 
and sewerage services. Seventy-three per cent of calls were answered 
in 30 seconds. A target of 85 per cent has been set for 2012-13.

The operations of the Customer Service Desk in our Moonah 
headquarters were revamped to better meet the needs of  
‘walk in’ customers. The number of customers visiting our Moonah 
office also has increased over the past six months, from an average 
of 200 customer visits in January to more than 400 in June.

Dealing with complaints
We responded to 399 written complaints of which 15 were formally 
escalated to the Ombudsman. This was an improvement on the 
previous year when we received a total of 455 complaints with 21 
referred to the Ombudsman.

A further 98 complaints were resolved using the ‘raise to higher level’ 
process initiated by the Ombudsman in which appropriate customer 
complaints are referred directly to a senior manager within 
Southern Water for resolution. 

All complaints addressed to the Ombudsman were resolved  
satisfactorily.

The main areas of complaint related to billing, water meter  
installations, water service and water quality. 

Keeping customers informed
We understand the importance of keeping our customers informed 
and consulting them on activities that affect them. Community 
and stakeholder consultation programs were conducted to support 
several major projects, including the Lauderdale Sewerage Scheme, 
Salamanca Sewerage Upgrade, Margate pipeline construction, 
Berriedale to Elwick and Bowen Bridge pipeline duplication, Huon 
Valley Regional Water Scheme and the Reservoir Roofing Program.

Information leaflets and fact sheets were included in quarterly 
accounts and provided to the Ombudsman and the electorate 
offices of parliamentarians to assist them in responding to queries. 
The Customer Charter summary was mailed to all customers in 
the first quarter of 2011-12. The Charter is being reviewed in 
line with the requirements of the Price and Service Plan.

A Pricing Awareness Communications Program commenced to explain 
the new two-part pricing system. The program uses a combination of 
direct mail, internet and advertising, as well as face-to-face meetings and 
information sessions with individual customers and community groups. 

A WaterSense program to provide customers with information and 
water saving strategies began in April 2012 with a series of gardening 
workshops at the Treadlightly Envirofest at the Royal Tasmanian 
Botanical Gardens. The program will continue in 2012-13.

Right to information
We are subject to both the Right	to	Information	Act	and	
the	Public	Interest	Disclosures	Act. Policies, procedures and 
application forms for these acts are available on our website. 
Our required annual disclosures are provided below:

Right to Information Act 2009 (Tas)                   2011-12
Number of applications for assessed disclosure received  5
Number of applications for assessed disclosure that were refused 
and the sections under which they were refused Nil
Number of applications for assessed disclosure relating to exempt  
information and the sections under which they were held to be exempt Nil
Number of applications for internal review and the outcomes of reviews Nil
Public Interest Disclosures Act 2002 (Tas)
Disclosures received by Southern Water Nil
Disclosures reported by Southern Water to the Ombudsman Nil 
Disclosures referred to Southern Water by the Ombudsman Nil

 
Helping customers in need
The Water	and	Sewerage	Industry	(Community	Service	Obligations)	
Act	2009 provides eligible customers with a State Government-funded 
concession on their water account. In 2011-12, a total of 22,900 
customers received a concession at a total cost of $3.08 million. 

Help also is available through our Residential Hardship policy to 
customers facing short-term financial difficulties in paying their 
water and sewerage account. To ensure the financial privacy 
of customers, the policy is administered on our behalf by the 
Salvation Army, Anglicare and other welfare organisations. 
In 2011-12, 19 customers received support under the policy. 
The total value of this assistance was more than $25,000.

Customers with a critical reliance on the water supply due to a serious 
medical condition, including people requiring kidney dialysis, are noted 
in our system to ensure we contact them immediately in the event of 
an emergency or planned disruption. These customers are also eligible 
to receive a special discount from Southern Water in addition to other 
concessions paid by the Government. A total of 10 customers 
received this special assistance in 2011-12.

Calls (Total 96,859)

Emails (Total 22,392)

13 MyWater Incoming Calls and Emails
Financial Year 2011-2012
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Assisting development 

Our serviced areas continued to grow, with residential and 
commercial development intensifying in city and urban 
areas. Strata title units represent our biggest development 
sector, followed closely by single dwellings. 

We worked with councils and developers early in project 
planning to ensure the provision of water and sewerage 
services was as economically efficient as possible.

We made the process easier for customers by offering pre-lodgement 
face-to-face meetings as well as introducing a Land Development 
Manual to our website and online application forms. The Manual 
will be further developed with the addition of a calculator to 
inform customers about the impact of relevant water and sewerage 
fees and charges associated with planned developments.

Playing our part in the community 
Sponsorship and Community Grants programs

In 2011-12 we provided assistance to many worthy organisations 
and events. These included a $21,000 contribution towards the 
development of a pilot education program for Greening Australia’s 
Sustainability Learning Centre. A further $10,000 was allocated 
to 10 community groups including Common Ground Australia, 
the Abbeyfield Society, the Channel Men’s Shed, Bridgewater 
PCYC and the Midway Point Neighbourhood Centre.

We sponsor the Steve Balcombe Scholarship through the University  
of Tasmania Foundation to provide financial help and work experience 
for university students studying engineering, environmental science 
or earth-science disciplines. A new scholarship holder is announced 
each year, with students holding the scholarship through the term of 
their degree. The scholarship winner for 2012 is Matthew Robertson.

Applications Approved  
2011-12

Approved  
2010-11

Approved  
2009-10

Development  
applications

1067 943 1256

Subdivision  
applications

229 272 130

Applications Certificate for 
certifiable works 

2011-12

Certificate for 
certifiable works 

2010-11

Certificate for 
certifiable works 

2009-10

Building  
applications

1031 882 1230

Plumbing  
applications

102 86 292

Taking water to the people

We operate two water trailers to provide a mobile source of drinking 
water for community, cultural and sporting events, and to supply 
customers affected by disruptions to their water supply. The trailers 
are provided free of charge and are also used to educate customers 
on key initiatives, such as the introduction of water meters. 

During the year the trailers attended 86 community events, including the 
Taste of the World Festival at Moonah, Relay for Life events, the Good 
Life summer markets in Huonville, a major music event, a cycling event 
for the scouts and local shows. The trailers also were located on site at 
12 water disruptions to provide drinking water to affected customers. 

When a leaking water main cut supplies to a child care centre in the 
Northern Suburbs, we brought in portable toilets and the water trailer, 
enabling the centre to remain open while repairs were carried out.

Supporting	young	Tasmanians,	(from	left) 
Southern	Water	CEO	Mike	Paine,	Prof.	Olivier	of	UTAS,	
Michelle	Balcombe,	Matthew	Robertson	scholarship	
winner	2012,	Dr	Damien	Holloway	of	UTAS,	 
Miles	Hampton	Chairman	of	Southern	Water,	 
and	Lance	Stapleton	Manager	Scientific	Services,	 
Southern	Water.

The	water	trailer	was	welcomed	by	those	attending	the	Taste	of	Tasmania 
Festival	in	Hobart.	Thirsty	customers	consumed	more	than	10,000	litres 
of	water	during	the	week-long	event.

We’re	supporting	educational	programs	to	be	offered	to	primary	
school	students	visiting	Greening	Australia’s	new	Sustainability	
Learning	Centre,	under	construction	at	Mount	Nelson.
The	Water	Warriors	program	will	involve	Tasmanian	schools	
in	practical	science-based	environmental	management	
projects	focused	on	water	investigation	to	encourage	
young	students	to	value	and	protect	water	resources.



SOUTHERN WATER 2011-12 ANNUAL REPORT 24 SOUTHERN WATER 2011-12 ANNUAL REPORT 25

Our commitment to improve business efficiency and 
productivity was reflected in our financial performance 
for the 12 month period. We finished our third year of 
operation with an after tax profit of $12.14 million,  
down from $13.09 million in 2011-12. 

Financial
Performance

The total income for the year was $126.77 million and total expenses, including  
income tax, were $114.63 million.

Tariff income, including rebates, was $111.40 million, down marginally from 
$111.93 million in the previous year. This was in part due to the reduction in State 
Government-funded compensation from $6.09 million in 2010-11 to $1.93 million 
this financial year. The reduction is a result of the change to the 5 per cent price cap 
compensation arrangements announced in the 2010-11 State Government budget. 
The $1.93 million received in 2011-12 is Southern Water’s share of the announced 
$4 million in total State Government compensation payable to the Regional Water 
Corporations. The reduction in State Government funded compensation was 
largely off-set by increased revenue from water and sewerage service charges.

Interest revenue was $0.17 million, down from $0.4 million last year, 
due to the active management of cash balances.

Expenses before interest, tax and depreciation were $71.04 million up from $68.84 million 
in 2010-11. The increase in expenses relates primarily to the cost of external works, 
including new connections, and to billing costs. The costs of external works are largely 
customer driven activities which have offsetting revenue. Billing costs were not recorded 
separately for Southern Water in 2010-11, as they were included in the base service 
fee charged by Onstream.

Southern Water’s balance sheet remains strong with net assets increasing 
$2.02 million to $923.14 million. Total borrowings increased to $146.58 million 
from $117.28 million in the previous financial year. The increase in borrowings 
this financial year was due to funding capital for infrastructure projects.

Receivables increased to $32.58 million from $28.58 million in the 2010-11 
financial year. The current year figure includes current debts with respect to 
grant funding totalling $1.8 million. A further $2.2 million is reflective of the 
timing of bill due dates and more specifically a new method of issuing rolling bills 
throughout the quarter rather than in bulk lots at the start of the quarter.

Southern Water’s cash balance at the end of the financial year was $1.32 million, down 
from $6.17 million at the end of 2010-11. This is the result of active management 
of excess cash to repay maturing overnight debt, thereby creating a positive effect 
on net profit by leveraging the spread between deposit and lending rates.

 
Our investment in water and sewerage 
assets continued to grow with our total 
investment in capital works over the past 
three years reaching $147.8 million.

Assets and 
Operations

The development and documentation of renewal strategies for water and 
sewerage assets is progressing with a primary focus on pipeline assets.

The task of assessing and prioritising projects for renewal became easier 
following improvements in field data capture and the successful migration of 
all inherited maintenance programs into our asset management system. 

A project to benchmark our asset management capability against 42 international 
water and sewerage utilities is under way. The project will provide valuable insights 
into potential improvements in business process and asset management. 

Capital works program
 
The Water Meter Project ($30 million)

The installation of water meters to more than 54,000 residential properties 
during 2011-12 was a landmark achievement for the business. It also provided 
a significant employment and economic boost for the southern region.

The legislative requirement for the introduction of two-part pricing 
for water services by 1 July 2012 underpinned the meter installation 
program. It was determined that the only effective and equitable way of 
meeting this requirement was to introduce universal metering.

At the start of the project the greater Hobart area, which includes Hobart 
City and Kingston, Clarence and Glenorchy, was the last significant 
population centre in Australia without a metered water service. Seven 
smaller southern municipalities were already metered.

The contract for installation was awarded to Skilltech Consulting Services, and 
the bulk of work was carried out by around 130 Tasmanian contract workers.
At the height of the project 35 crews were installing up to 380 meters a day. 

The project was jointly funded by Southern Water and the Australian 
Government, which provided $5 million under the National Water Security Plan 
for Cities and Towns as part of the broader Water for the Future Strategy. 

The project provided a direct $20 million injection to the economy of southern Tasmania.

The residential metering project was 99 per cent complete at the end of 
the financial year and continued in early 2012-13 to complete installation 
work and monitor the performance of the new meter fleet.

A separate program to install 2,688 meters on unmetered commercial, industrial 
and council properties is expected to be completed by the end of August 2012. 
The $6.4 million cost of this program is being funded by Southern Water.
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Concrete	is	poured	for	the	
base of the new pump 

station	at	Franklin.

The benefits of metering

The installation of water meters will deliver significant benefits for both Southern Water and 
our customers. The meters feature Automated Meter Reading technology which allows for 
storing of water consumption data and remote reading via hand-held radio devices. 

This technology enables us to better manage water assets: to minimise operational 
energy demands such as pumping, reduce water losses through leak detection, 
and analyse consumption patterns for future strategic asset planning. 

Customers will benefit through raised awareness of their water usage and 
by being alerted to potential leaks in private infrastructure.

Huon Valley Regional Water Scheme ($33.5 million)

The Huon Valley Scheme is nearing completion, with commissioning of the 
new water treatment plant and pumping equipment under way. 

Developed initially by the Huon Valley Council in response to increasing pressure on existing water sources, 
the scheme extends the supply of potable water to all main population centres, including Franklin, Castle 
Forbes Bay, Geeveston and Cygnet, from a single sustainable and reliable water supply, the Huon River.

The Australian Government provided $12 million towards the upgrade and construction of the infrastructure.

When fully operational, the scheme will improve environmental outcomes by 
reducing reliance on multiple water sources. This means environmental flows can be 
returned to stressed catchment areas and degraded rivulets and creeks.

Some potentially difficult issues associated with the location of infrastructure, 
such as the vital Franklin Pump Station, were successfully completed with thanks 
to the community for their help to select the most appropriate site. 

Completion of the Huon Valley project will result in significant improvements to water 
quality in the townships of Geeveston, Kermandie and Cygnet. These areas regularly 
experience discoloured water and temporary boil water notices due to the lack of proper 
filtration from the current water sources, which should soon be a thing of the past.

Lenah Valley Reservoir Project ($4.5 million)

The construction of a new reservoir to ensure a reliable source of water to residents of the Hobart 
suburb of Lenah Valley reached practical completion in May 2012. The 4.5 megalitre reservoir 
and associated pipe works also cater for the expansion of serviced land in the suburb. 

New Norfolk Water Supply Upgrade ($1.25 million)

Work has been completed on the Fairfax Terrace water main project in New Norfolk. The work 
involved the laying of 750 metres of mild steel cement lined pipe under the road surface. 

The project improves reliability of the bulk water supply system from the Bryn Estyn 
water treatment plant to the northern lines, supplying customers in the towns 
of Brighton, Kempton, Campania, Richmond and Bridgewater.

Project	Manager,	 
Jason	McGuiness,	 

inspects	work	on	the	new	 
Lenah	Valley	Reservoir.

Improving sewerage system performance 

The priority given to upgrading the sewerage system has resulted in a 
29 per cent improvement in performance over the past three years. 

The first of a number of major sewerage pipe renewals commenced 
during the year. By inserting a cured-in-place structural fibre glass 
liner into an existing pipe, structural integrity and longevity is 
extended for a further 50 years. All the work is carried out using 
trenchless technology, which means that pipes can be renewed 
at a much faster pace and with minimal disturbance to customers, 
businesses and other service providers.

A number of critical larger diameter trunk sewers have been relined, 
including sections of Campbell Street, Battery Point, Ashfield to 
Blinking Billy Point and Mount Nelson.

Closed circuit camera (CCTV) surveys are being increasingly used 
to gauge asset condition and assist in the management of 
maintenance of sewer networks.

The mobilisation of a second high pressure sewer jetting machine to 
the planned maintenance program has contributed to an improved 
performance of 46 breaks and chokes per 100 kilometres of sewer pipes. 

Blockages/100km/yr

Blockages by suburb name

2011-12 average performance = 46

Target performance (OTTER) = 28
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Salamanca Sewerage Upgrade ($1.5 million)

Work to improve sewerage services in the historic Salamanca Place 
tourist precinct continued with a $500,000 capital program to 
address odour problems, pump station unreliability and a 
range of other issues associated with ageing infrastructure.

When the new pump station is constructed in 2012-13 our 
investment in the Salamanca upgrade will total about $1.5 million.

Lauderdale Sewerage Scheme ($12.8 million)

A nationwide tender process was undertaken to find a suitably 
experienced designer with the ability to deliver a cost-effective 
pressure sewer scheme suited to the low-lying terrain of 
the Lauderdale area. 

Work on the installation of the scheme is expected to begin early 
in 2013, with more than 200 property owners expressing 
interest in connecting to the network.

The first stage of the $12.8 million project involved the construction 
of sewer mains, pumping stations and a four kilometre transfer 
pipeline linking Lauderdale to the Rokeby Wastewater Treatment 
Plant. Sewage from the plant is treated for return to the 
environment and also recycled for irrigation in the Coal River Valley.

Future capital works program

The capital works program will continue in 2012-13 with the 
investment of more than $39 million to ensure our infrastructure 
networks provide quality drinking water on a reliable basis.  
The program also aims to reduce negative environmental 
impacts from our operations.

The top six capital projects for 2012-13:

Project Budget 2012-13

Water and Sewerage Renewals $10,000,000

Small Towns Boil Water Notice Removal Program $9,500,000

Sewerage Treatment Plant Upgrades $7,000,000

Taroona Pump Station and Rising Main Project $4,700,000

Margate Pipeline Duplication $4,000,000

Electrical Switchboard Renewal Program $4,000,000 

Our public health performance dropped slightly due to water quality issues  
involving unroofed reservoirs. 

A project to fit strong, lightweight aluminium roofs to 22 open reservoirs to address 
microbiological contamination from bird and animal excrement and wind-blown 
dust, debris and algae, is scheduled for completion by the end of 2012. 

However, five permanent boil water alerts remain in place in the townships of Ellendale, 
Gretna, Judbury, Mountain River and the Jacksons Road system in Franklin. 

Two temporary alerts were issued for the townships of Tunbridge and Wayatinah. 

Investigations into water quality issues in small towns will continue to try to identify 
cost-effective solutions to increase quality standards.

Public Health

Urban	sampling	coordinator,	 
Matthew	Colley,	tests	

the	new	software.

Improving data collection

New technology is being used to streamline the 
management of field data from the point of collection 
through to reporting. This will improve accountability and 
productivity while reducing tedious data administration.

Good progress has been made in deploying the  
Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) System to 
more than 300 remote sites within our operating area including 
water treatment plants, reticulation systems and sewage 
treatment plants. 

SCADA automatically monitors individual pieces of field 
equipment, flows, reservoir levels, water quality, control 
pumps and valves, which in turn, permits early intervention 
or quick recovery of normal operating conditions.

Case Study

Percentage of bulk supply systems  
meeting microbiological compliance 100% 100%
Percentage of potable systems    
meeting microbiological compliance 74% 79%
Systems on permanent boil water notices 5 5
Systems on temporary boil water notices 2 1

Water quality compliance 2011-12 2010-11 

Permanent Boil Water Alert

Temporary Boil Water Alert

Total % Systems on Boil Water Alert
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This chart tracks the number of boil water notices and the percentage of systems
on boil water notices. Some boil water notices are only applied for a few days, 
while long-term permanent and temporary notices can remain in place for
months or years until problems with the drinking water systems are resolved.
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We aim to operate our business to ensure there is no harm to 
the environment from our operations. 

Ongoing issues with a number of sewage treatment plants are being 
addressed to bring our performance in line with the requirements 
of our customers and regulators. 

Our Wastewater Management Plan, which forms part of the Catchment 
to Customer to Coast framework, was approved by the Tasmanian 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). The plan details our strategy 
to achieve compliance across all sewage treatment plants and 
includes recycled water, biosolids and environmental management.

More than 100 projects have been initiated under the plan. 
Developed by a cross-functional team within Southern Water, 
and with input from relevant external experts, the Catchment 
to Customer to Coast Management Framework Project was a 
finalist in the 2011 Tasmanian Engineering Excellence awards. 

Generating power from sewage

The Macquarie Point Wastewater Treatment Plant creates 
valuable power while treating waste, supplying up to 60 per cent 
of its own electricity needs. A 120 kilowatt cogeneration engine 
burns methane gas generated in the anaerobic digesters. It is the 
only treatment plant that generates enough methane to make 
a cogeneration plant viable. Each megawatt of power generated 
receives a Renewable Energy Certificate, which can then be sold.

Future environmental projects

We plan to further reduce our environmental impact by 
undertaking measures to reduce the number of sewage spills 
in dry weather and overflows during rainfall events. We will 
also upgrade or rationalise priority sewage treatment plants 
at Taroona, Orford, New Norfolk, Dover and Ranelagh.

Planning for upgrades to regional sewerage systems in the Lower 
Derwent, Brighton and Kingborough areas will continue and 
sewerage service extensions at Lauderdale will be completed.

Maintaining quality standards 

We undertake a rigorous water testing regime to monitor the  
quality of drinking water supplied to our customers. Tests are also 
undertaken on wastewater, trade waste and recreational water. 

During the year our laboratory at Selfs Point in Hobart processed  
37,355 water samples, an average of 3,583 each month. This was an 
increase of 15 per cent on 2010-11. Of the total, 3,436 tests were  
conducted for external clients. 

We also became one of the first water corporations in the world 
to test the latest Sample Tracking and Receiving System (STARS) 
for the collection and management of field sampling data with 
sample results available for reporting within minutes.

Plans for the future

In the year ahead we will manage public health risks by continuing 
the water quality improvement and extension program. This will 
include planning, consultation and evaluation work for service 
extensions at Bushy Park, Southern Beaches and Seven Mile Beach. 

The Small Towns Boil Water Notice Removal Program to deliver clean 
drinking water to the communities of Ouse, Hamilton, Tunbridge, 
Gretna, Colebrook and Wayatinah also will be implemented.

Environmental Performance

Sewage treatment plant compliance 2011-12 2010-11
Percentage of sewage treated to a primary level  0.4% 0.4%
Percentage of sewage treated to a secondary level  80.5% 80.5%
Percentage of sewage treated to a tertiary or advanced level  19.1% 19.1 %
Number of Level 2 sewage treatment plants compliant at all times  4 2
Total number of sewer overflows reported  
to the Environmental Regulator  76 71
Sewer overflows reported to the Environmental  
Regulator (per 100 km of sewer main)  3.85 3.4
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Fluoride Performance
Fluoride is added to drinking water in most systems under direction from the 

Director of Public Health. The chart above plots the percentage of fluoride systems 
meeting their operational targets. Five months of the year achieved 100% 

performance which is a significant improvement compared to previous years.
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This chart represents the percentage of drinking water systems 
meeting the requirements of the Australian Drinking Water 
Guidelines. Projects such as reservoir roofing will result in improved 
compliance for potable systems. 
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Wastewater Compliance with EPA Licence June 2011-June 2012
Wastewater compliance against EPA licences is measured monthly at all Level 2 

sewage treatment plants. The columns in the chart above represent the percentage of 
plants that have met all licence discharge limits.
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Improving the health of the River Derwent 

Case Study

The health of Hobart’s River Derwent is improving, thanks to the combined efforts of 
state and local government, Southern Water and private sector companies.

The 2011 State of the Derwent report card highlighted the important contribution made by sewerage 
infrastructure upgrades in achieving a 25 per cent reduction in the level of nutrients in the river 
from sewage treatment plants since 2003. Excessive nutrients in estuaries and rivers can lead to 
increased growth of noxious algae, impacting on shellfish farming and causing detrimental changes 
to natural ecosystems and large unsightly blooms on beaches and in recreational waterways. 

As a partner in the Derwent Estuary Program, we are currently modelling the Derwent 
Estuary to provide a scientific approach to assessing and understanding the impacts 
of treated sewage released into the river and prioritising improvements. 

The allocation of $100 million over the next three years to improve sewage treatment plants and 
infrastructure will further contribute to improving water quality in the Derwent in the years ahead. 

Workforce planning and skills development play a critical 
role in delivering improved services to our customers. 
Personnel planning and recruitment and training are 
linked to our strategic and operational plans.
In 2011-12, we gave priority to the development and 
implementation of best practice health, safety and risk 
management systems to deliver legislative compliance and 
integrated business and people management practices. 

Our people
We have 407 employees working at 22 locations around southern Tasmania. We continued to build a united 
and skilled workforce with the capacity to lift productivity and respond to our changing environment.

We are now developing strategies to underpin our Diversity Policy in line with the  
ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations. 

Improving safety performance 
At the end of the financial year our 12 month rolling Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR)1 
was 14.1. While this was well outside our target of less than six lost time injuries in the 
year, it is an improvement on 2010-11 when the LTIFR was 15.2. There has been a significant 
improvement since our first year of operation in 2009-10 when the result was 26.3, which 
demonstrates the strength of our commitment to our guiding principle of ‘no harm’. 

Our Disabling Injury Frequency Rate (DIFR)2 also reduced, falling from 37.2 to 28.2 over the past 12 months. 

A number of key strategies aimed at improving Occupational Health and Safety Performance were 
implemented over the 2011-12 financial year. These included ongoing safety training, a restructure of the 
safety consultation process, development and implementation of the Safety Non-Negotiables Program, and 
the continued implementation of the whole-of-business OH&S Management System Implementation Plan.

We delivered a targeted program of safety oriented capital works in excess of $1 million addressing 
issues such as working at heights, manual handling and working in confined spaces. 

Workforce composition

2011-12 2010-11
Board Board 

Total: 6
Males: 4 (66.66%)  
Females: 2 (33.33%)

Total: 6 including 1 vacancy
Males: 4 (66.66%)  
Females: 1 (16.67%)

Senior Management Senior Management

Total: 7
Males: 5 (71.42%)  
Females: 2 (28.57%) 

Total: 7
Males: 6 (85.7%)
Females: 1 (14.3%)

Workforce Workforce

Total: 407 (excluding labour 
hire/agency employees) 
Males: 304 (74.69%)  
Females: 103 (25.30%) 

Total: 358 (excluding labour 
hire/agency employees)
Males: 291 (81.28%)
Females: 67 (18.71%)

People and Systems

1, 2  The Southern Water LTIFR and DIFR  
are calculated using only Southern Water  

and Onstream employee and trainee hours. 
They do not include temporary or  

labour hire staff, contractors or non  
Southern Water/Onstream trainees.
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Workforce planning

Workforce planning is playing a critical role in delivering improved 
services to our customers.

We are identifying personnel requirements linked to strategic 
planning, budgeting processes, recurring recruitment needs, 
training requirements and operational planning activities. 

Recruiting and retaining high calibre employees is a core people 
strategy and succession planning is also a high priority to 
ensure that the knowledge and skills of our older employees 
are captured as part of our overall corporate knowledge. 

Managing risk
Major reviews were undertaken of strategic and operational  
risks during the reporting period. A range of risk mitigation 
projects were undertaken including the following:

•  A review of the Emergency Management Plan (EMP) was 
undertaken during the year and a capability development 
project initiated. This project includes training for incident 
control personnel, the development of the Emergency 
Management Working Group and a review of the Incident Control 
Structure. Emergency Management Capability development 
activities will continue in the 2012-13 financial year.  

•  A Portfolio Risk Assessment (PRA) is underway for the eight 
dams previously managed by Hobart Water and 10 regional 
dams that have significant or higher hazard categories. This 
independent assessment will be completed later in 2012. This 
review is in line with the requirements of Tasmanian Dam Safety 
Legislation and ANCOLD (Australian National Committee on 
Large Dams) Guidelines, which stipulate that dam owners must 
undertake risk assessments on their dams and demonstrate 
that risks are being addressed on a priority basis. 

•  A Project Management Framework was implemented to ensure robust 
decision making and consistent and efficient delivery of projects. 
The framework incorporates ‘gating’ methodology to ensure review 
and positive decision making at critical points in each project.

•  A Procurement Framework providing information, templates 
and guides is being developed to ensure processes for 
obtaining goods and services are rigorous, meet our ethical 
standards and provide strong commercial value. 

Quality and Audits
A Quality Framework was established to integrate key business 
processes and standard requirements in the Southern Water 
Integrated Management System (SWIMS). 

Systematic process reviews are under way across the business 
using a continuous improvement corrective action log to 
oversee the development and implementation of SWIMS.

During the year Deloitte undertook the following internal audits:

Audit

Capital Expenditure

Special Project - Stock Count and Inventory Management Project

Payroll Internal Audit

Assessment of Contract Variations

Tender Assessment

Key Controls Internal Audit

Purchasing and Procurement Internal Audit

Accounts Payable

External audits were completed successfully for the continued 
accreditation of our Occupational Health and Safety system, 
Environmental Management System, Hazard Analysis and Critical 
Control Point system, National Association of Testing Authorities 
system and our Public Liability Management System.Safety leadership and employee participation

To ensure that our team understands the commitment to safety, 
members of the board, senior managers and leaders in the business 
undertook No Harm Observations at work sites throughout the region. 
The observations are intended to encourage safety discussions on 
location and empower individuals to identify solutions to safety issues.

A total of 294 observations were conducted during the 12 month period, 
exceeding the Corporate Plan target of 200. 

A whole-of-business consultative forum, the Health and Safety 
Committee, was established to enhance the existing Employee 
Safety Representative Committee in the promotion of an injury-
and incident-free workplace. The two committees work both 
independently, and together, to achieve common goals. 

A total of 34 different safety training courses were delivered 
and 3,516 participants attended the sessions offered.

Health and safety policy revised

The Occupational Health and Safety Policy was revised as part 
of our commitment to providing a ‘No Harm’, safe and healthy 
working environment for employees, contractors and visitors. 

Ten non-negotiable health and safety rules were incorporated in the 
policy and promoted across the business. They relate to working in 
confined spaces or restricted areas, safe handling of equipment and 
materials, precautions when working near electricity infrastructure 
and no tolerance of drugs and alcohol in the workplace.

Alcohol and Other Drugs Policy introduced

The Alcohol and Other Drugs (AOD) Business Rule and Procedure is 
supported by a range of strategies such as education and awareness 
training, provision of self-testing devices for alcohol, Employee 
Assistance Program and rehabilitation services, and 
alcohol and other drug testing. 

In developing the AOD Program, extensive consultation was undertaken 
with the Joint Consultative Committee, the Health and Safety 
Committee, union representatives and with our broader workforce. 
The delivery of AOD Employee Education and Awareness Training 
has already begun.  

Implementation of the program, including the commencement of AOD 
testing, is scheduled to be undertaken early in the 2012-13 financial year. 

Lifting capabilities through training

The People and Capability Framework Project continued to ensure 
we have the right people, with the right competencies, at the 
right time. As well as aligning skills to industry best practice and 
business objectives, the project identifies career pathways.

Good progress has been made in improving the skills and capabilities 
of our people. Interviews were conducted with employees across all 
divisions to gauge current levels of training, professional qualifications 
and career aspirations. Individual professional development courses 
were introduced for 134 employees, with 31.6 per cent of our 
people becoming involved in nationally accredited courses.

As a direct outcome of the interview process, a further 
126 people were identified as requiring training in 
information and communication technology. 

Improving workplace literacy

We received funding from the Department of Education 
Employment and Workplace Relations for a Workplace English 
Literacy and Learning Program. Referred to internally as the “Get 
on Line” project, it aims to provide employees with essential 
skills in information, communication and technology for using 
computer software, including specialised databases. 

The improved computer skills demonstrated by those who have 
received training have made a huge difference to individual 
confidence and to the accurate and timely delivery of work.

Over the next 12 months we intend to focus on the implementation 
of the new pricing framework, the continued delivery of our capital 
works program to upgrade ageing infrastructure and making  
further improvements in the environmental and health impacts 
of our operations.

The implementation of the pricing changes approved by the 
Economic Regulator from 1 July 2012 commences the transition 
to a rational pricing structure consistent with legislated pricing 
principles to introduce two-part pricing and reduce cross 
subsidies while minimising price shocks to our customers. 

The Pricing Awareness Campaign, initiated in the second half of the 
financial year, will be continued as we seek to inform customers of 
pricing changes and identify opportunities to reduce water usage.

We will also continue to develop a customer-focused culture 
across the organisation to ensure we deliver service outcomes 
that meet the needs and expectations of our customers. 

We are committed to the Business Transformation Program which 
seeks to re-shape the way we do business. The program aims to 
develop a culture of planned and proactive processes and encourages 
continuous improvement. 

Looking to the future

LTIFR (FY11/12)

LTIFR (FY10/11)

LTIFR (Corporate Objective)

DIFR (FY11/12)

DIFR (FY10/11)
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Role of the Board
The Board of Directors is responsible for our overall 
corporate governance. The Board performs this role by:

•  governing the Corporation in accordance with 
the requirements of the WSCA, including 
meeting its objectives under that Act;

•  providing entrepreneurial leadership of the Corporation 
within a framework of prudent and effective controls 
which enable risks to be assessed and managed;

•  setting the Corporation’s strategic aims, ensuring 
the necessary financial and human resources are 
in place for the Corporation to meets its objectives, 
and reviewing management performance;

•  setting and monitoring strategic requirements for 
effective financial reporting and risk management; 

•   setting the Corporation’s values and standards and 
ensuring that its obligations to its shareholders 
and others are understood and met; 

•  appointing the Chief Executive Officer and 
monitoring performance; and

•  ensuring the Corporation complies with its Constitution 
as well as all applicable laws and rules.

The Board has determined which matters it will manage 
exclusively with the remainder delegated to the CEO.  
The statement of Matters Reserved to the Board is available 
in the Governance and Policy section of our website.

Corporate Governance Framework
Southern Water voluntarily adopted the ASX’s Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations 
(ASX Principles) in May 2009 as the basis for 
its corporate governance framework.   

As we are not a publicly-listed company, not all Principles 
are relevant and in some areas, our legislation, context 
and structure preclude us from complying with the ASX 
Principles. Where this occurs, we have sought to recognise 
the intent of the ASX Principles in our policies and practices.

The WSCA mandates other specific governance features, 
including the composition of the Board, rights and 
responsibilities of our owner councils, and specific sections of 
the Corporations Act that are formally displaced and therefore 
do not apply to us. In most other ways, the Board’s powers, 
obligations, rights and responsibilities are similar to those of 
other privately-owned, large proprietary limited companies.

A summary of our compliance with the ASX Principles is 
included later in this section, while a detailed statement 
of our governance arrangements is available in the 
Governance and Policies section of our website.

Board structure
The WSCA prescribes the composition of Southern 
Water’s Board. All directors, including the chairman, 
are non-executive and independent in terms of their 
external relationships with the corporations.

Legislative authority
The Tasmanian Water and Sewerage Corporation (Southern Region) Pty Ltd, trading as 
Southern Water, is enabled under the	Water	and	Sewerage	Corporations	Act	2008	(Tas) 
(WSCA). It was incorporated on 13 November 2008 as a proprietary limited company, 
under the Corporations	Act	2001 (Cth), owned in equal shares by twelve local 
government councils in the southern region of Tasmania. Our constitution 
is approved by the Tasmanian Parliament.

The WSCA prescribes our objectives as:

•  to promote the efficient delivery of water supply and provision 
of sewerage services in its region;

•  to encourage water conservation, demand management of water and the 
re-use of water on an economic and commercial basis in its region;

• to be a successful business and, to this end – 

 •  operate its activities in accordance with good commercial practice; and

 • maximise sustainable returns to its members.

Principal activities
Our principal activities during 2011-12 were:

•  providing water and sewerage services for residential and commercial 
customers throughout the southern region of Tasmania; and

•  undertaking maintenance, upgrading and development works on water and 
sewerage assets, and preparing strategic development plans for the future.

Corporate Governance
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Miles Hampton 
B.Ec (Hons), FCPA, FCIS, FAICD

(Appointed	Director	26	November	2008	Term	1;	
Appointed	Chairman	1	January	2011	Term	1)

Mr Hampton was appointed chairman of 
the four Tasmanian Water and Sewerage 
Corporations in January 2011, having been 
a director of the corporations since 
November 2008. 

He was chairman of bulk water authority 
Hobart Water from 2005 to 2009.

Mr Hampton is a member of the Infrastructure 
Advisory Council and the Tasmanian Planning 
Commission. These appointments relate to 
the role of chairman of the water corporations 
and his involvement is prescribed under 
the relevant Tasmanian legislation.

Mr Hampton is a director of MyState Limited, 
Australian Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd, 
Forestry Tasmania and the Van Diemen’s 
Land Company. He is Chairman of the 
UTAS Foundation. 

He was Managing Director of ASX listed 
agribusiness Roberts Limited for 20 years 
until his resignation in 2006.  

Brian Bayley 
Dip.Civ.Eng.

(Appointed	26	November	2008	Term	1;	
reappointed	1	January	2010	Term	2)

Mr Bayley has over 35 years experience in 
the water industry, holding the position 
of Managing Director of Melbourne 
Water for seven years up to 2005.  

Mr Bayley is also a former chairman and 
director of both the Water Services Association 
of Australia and the Victorian Water Association. 

Mr Bayley is currently a Civil Engineering 
Consultant and brings a broad portfolio of 
industry knowledge and change management 
experience to the new corporations. 

He is chair of the Safety and Health, 
Environment and Public Health Committee for 
each water and sewerage regional corporation.

Nick Burrows  
B.Com, FCIS, CA, FFin, FAICD, FTIA

(Appointed	4	May	2011	Term	1)

Mr Burrows holds a diverse portfolio of Board 
positions across listed, private, not-for-profit 
and government sectors. He is currently 
Chairman of Tasmanian Quality Assured Inc 
and a director of Skills Tasmania and Clean 
Seas Tuna Limited. He also serves as Finance 
Director of Value Adviser Associates. 

Mr Burrows has extensive experience as an 
Audit and Risk Committee member across 
these Boards and also at the Department 
of Primary Industries, Parks, Water and 
Environment and Local Government.

Mr Burrows was formerly Chief Financial 
Officer and Company Secretary of ASX listed 
company, Tassal Group Limited. He has 
contemporary corporate governance, strategic, 
financial and risk management expertise, 
and significant operational understanding of 
corporate accounting and treasury functions.  
Mr Burrows has also had a long involvement 
with Chartered Secretaries Australia including 
serving as National President and currently 
serving on the Tasmanian Branch Council.

Mr Burrows is a member of Southern Water’s 
Audit and Risk Committee and Safety and 
Health, Environment and Public 
Health Committee.

Sarah Merridew  
B.Ec, FCA, FAICD

(Appointed	10	March	2011	Term	1)

Mrs Merridew is a Chartered Accountant 
and a director of MyState Limited 
and Tasmanian Railway Pty Ltd. 

She is Honorary Treasurer of the Royal Flying 
Doctor Service Tasmania Inc. and actively 
involved with other community organisations. 

Mrs Merridew is a former director of Tasmanian 
Public Finance Corporation and a partner of 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. She has extensive 
experience in providing audit, risk management, 
governance, and business advisory services 
to the public and private sectors. 

Mrs Merridew is the Chair of the Audit and 
Risk Committees for all four Tasmanian 
Water and Sewerage corporations. 

Daniel Thomas Norton                                    
B.Agric Sci (Hons (Univ. of Melbourne), 
M.Econ (Univ. of New England), PhD 
in Economics and Business (North Carolina 
State University), International Advanced 
Management Program (Univ. of Hawaii)

(Appointed	26	November	2008	Term	1;	
reappointed	26	November	2011	Term	2)

Dr Norton is an experienced chairman 
and CEO who has worked in the electricity 
industry, central government agencies and 
in international commodity marketing. 

He has first-hand experience across a 
broad range of areas including electricity, 
transport (including ports and rail),  
privatisation and corporatisation, financial 
management reform, education, water  
services, health services, information and 
communications  technology, agricultural 
marketing and public sector management.

His other current board appointments include 
Chairman, Tasmanian Ports Corporation Pty Ltd; 
Chairman, Menzies Research Institute Tasmania 
and Deputy Chairman, Aurora Energy Pty Ltd.

Jane Sargison 
BE (Hons), DPhil, FIEAust, MAICD

(Appointed	18	August	2011	Term	1)

Dr Sargison is a Rhodes Scholar and 2011 
National Professional Engineer of the Year.  

Her current roles include: Director of JSA 
Consulting Engineers, Executive Director 
for Rainbow Bee Eater Pty Ltd, Mechanical 
College Board Member for Engineers Australia, 
National Board Member of the Australian 
Institute of Energy, a Member of the Building 
Regulations Advisory Committee (effective to 
17 July 2012), and a Member of the Tasmanian 
Rhodes Scholarship Selection Committee.  

She became a director of ARENA (Australian 
Renewable Energy Agency) from 1 July 2012.

From 2001-2011 Dr Sargison was a Senior 
Lecturer in Mechanical Engineering and from 
2009-2011, Deputy Director of the Centre for 
Renewable Energy and Power Systems at UTAS.  

Dr Sargison has published over 50 research 
papers in a wide range of topics and her skills 
include: engineering solutions, business 
development, innovative and multidisciplinary 
research and development projects.

Directors’ Information
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Board Committees
Audit and Risk Committee

Southern Water’s Audit and Risk Committee (AAR) comprises 
three independent and financially capable directors. It is chaired 
by Mrs Sarah Merridew and met five times during the year. 

The Board has approved the Committee’s Charter. Under the Charter, 
the Committee assists the Board by reviewing, monitoring and 
overseeing matters relating to external reporting, risk management 
and internal controls, external and internal audit functions and 
compliance with all legislative and regulatory obligations.

The Committee approves the strategic internal audit plan to  
ensure planned audit activities are aligned to key business risks.  
Internal audit reports are provided to the Committee’s 
scheduled meetings. 

During 2011-12, the Committee’s major focus was the continued 
evolution of an effective risk management and internal control system, 
progress of the internal audit strategy, further development of a range 
of financial policies, review of key accounting policies and refinement 
of year end reporting processes.

See page 35 for details of audit activity in 2011-12.

The Committee met with both the internal and external auditors 
without management present and liaised with the external 
auditors in regard to the rotation of lead auditors.

Safety and Health, Environment and Public Health Committee

The Safety and Health, Environment and Public Health Committee 
(SHEP) comprises three independent directors. It is chaired 
by Mr Brian Bayley and met four times during the year. 

The Board revised the Committee’s charter during the 
year. Considering its future work program and the successful 
establishment of the Corporation’s human resources policies and 
procedures, the Board agreed that the monitoring and oversight 
of human resources and the employees’ remuneration framework 
would revert to the full Board, effective from March 2012.

SHEP continues to assist the Board by reviewing, monitoring 
and overseeing matters relating to workplace health 
and safety, environmental management and compliance 
and public health performance and compliance.

The Committee’s major focus in 2011-12 was the continued 
improvement of workplace safety performance, particularly 
through the introduction of the Fitness for Work Policy and 
Alcohol and Other Drugs Policy; ongoing improvement of water 
quality, especially the program of roofing reservoirs; and reducing 
our impact on the natural environment through scientific 
assessments of receiving waters in partnership with CSIRO.

Miles Hampton 
(Board Chairman)

Brian Bayley 
(SHEP Chairman)

Nick Burrows Sarah Merridew 
(AAR Chairman)

Dan Norton Jane Sargison

Board Meetings
Eligible to Attend 17 17 17 17 17 11
Attended 17 16 17 15 17 11
Audit and Risk Committee (AAR)
Eligible to Attend    5* 5 5 5
Attended 4 5 4 5
Safety and Health, Environment and 
Public Health Committee (SHEP)
Eligible to Attend   4* 4 4 4
Attended 3 3 4 4

*Board Chairman is ex officio member of all board committees.

Principle 1 – Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 
• Companies should establish and disclose the respective roles and responsibilities of board and management. ✔

Performance evaluations of senior executives occurred in 2011-12 in accordance with the process approved by the Board. Specific disclosures

Principle 2 – Structure the Board to add value 
Companies should have a board of an effective composition, size and commitment 
to adequately discharge its responsibilities and duties.

✔

•  The process of recruiting directors is undertaken by a Selection Committee prescribed by our enabling 
legislation. Under the legislation, the Committee comprises two external, independent members 
appointed by Owners’ Representatives, Board Chairman and the Secretary of Treasury.

•  Owners’ Representatives appoint new directors and determine the Board’s remuneration on the Committee’s recommendation. 
•  Succession planning for the Board is managed by Owners’ Representatives in consultation with the Board Chairman.
• Directors are entitled to access independent professional advice at the Corporation’s expense.
•  A performance evaluation process was undertaken in 2011-12 for the Board, its committees and directors in 

accordance with the agreed process. The outcomes were discussed with Owners’ Representatives.

Specific disclosures

Principle 3 – Promote ethical and responsible decision-making 
Companies should actively promote ethical and responsible decision-making.

•  The Board has approved a Diversity Policy. The Board’s work program for early 2012-13 includes the consideration 
of diversity objectives and development of a comprehensive strategy to achieve those objectives. 

• The current profile of the Corporation’s Board and workforce is explained on page 37 of this Annual Report.
Specific disclosures

Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 
Companies should have a structure to independently verify and safeguard the integrity of their financial reporting. ✔

Principle 5 – Make timely and balanced disclosure 
Companies should promote timely and balanced disclosure of all material matters concerning the company. ✔

•  Our key governance documents prescribe quarterly meetings between the Chairman and Owners’ 
Representatives and formal quarterly reporting of performance and other key matters. 

• Planned meetings are augmented by the Board’s continuous disclosures policy encompassed in its Shareholder Relations Policy. 
•  Additional meetings were convened during the year with Owners’ Representatives and all 

shareholders to discuss and consult on important issues affecting the Corporation.

Specific disclosures

Principle 6 – Respect the rights of shareholders
Companies should respect the rights of shareholders and facilitate the effective exercise of those rights. ✔

Principle 7 – Recognise and manage risk
Companies should establish a sound system of risk oversight and management and internal control. ✔

Management has provided its assurances and formal declarations to the Board regarding the status of risk management and 
internal control systems. Confirmation of this can be found in the Directors’ Declaration, accompanying the Financial Reports.

Specific disclosures

Principle 8 – Remunerate fairly and responsibly
Companies should ensure that the level and composition of remuneration is sufficient 
and reasonable and that its relationship to performance is clear.

•  Up until March 2012, the SHEP Committee addressed human resources and remuneration policies 
for the Corporation’s workforce. These responsibilities have reverted to the full Board.

•  Directors take advice from independent expert advisors as required. No remuneration advisors undertake  
other work for management.

•  Under our enabling legislation, remuneration for directors is the responsibility of Owners’ Representatives and  
the Selection Committee. Disclosures in Principle 2 above explain the composition of the Selection Committee. 

• The Remuneration Report, incorporated in the Directors Report, provides further detail on our remuneration policies.

Specific disclosures

Key:  ✔Complies   ✗ Processes not compliant           Processes not directly applicable to the corporation. However, where relevant internal processes  
have been developed, the processes reflect the intent of the Principle.       Changes in progress to meet new requirements.

Corporate Governance Disclosure Obligations
The following table summarises our compliance with ASX Principles. It provides the specific disclosures required 
where these are not included elsewhere in our Annual Report. A detailed statement of our governance arrangements 
is available in the Governance and Policies section of our website: www.southernwatertas.com.au.

Meeting attendances 2011-12
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Financial Report
Tasmanian Water and Sewerage Corporation (Southern Region) Pty Ltd
1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012

Dividends

On 8 February 2012 the Board of Southern Water approved the 
payment of a $4,789,000 (2011: $5,666,000) interim dividend from 
2011-12 estimated profits. This dividend was paid on 30 April 2012.

On 13 June 2012 the Board approved the payment of a further interim 
dividend of $1,131,724 (2011: $Nil) which was paid on 28 June 2012.

On 10 August 2012 the Board approved the payment of a final 
dividend of $2,085,175 (2011: $2,691,217). In accordance with 
accounting standards the final dividend was not recognised in 
the financial statements at 30 June 2012 as it was not declared 
prior to the balance date.

Subsequent Events

There have been no matters or circumstances that have arisen 
since the end of the financial year that have significantly affected, 
or may significantly affect the Corporation, its operations, results 
of operations or state of affairs in future financial years.

Likely Future Developments

The Corporation may be impacted by the following future developments:

In June 2012 members of the Local Government Association of 
Tasmania prepared a recommendation to the Treasurer of Tasmania 
to merge the three water corporations (Ben Lomond Water, Cradle 
Mountain Water and Southern Water) and the management 
services provider Onstream. To effect this recommendation the 
Treasurer will need to sponsor a change to the existing legislation. 

The introduction by the Commonwealth Government of the carbon 
scheme on 1 July 2012 will impact the future financial results 
of the Corporation. At the date of this report the Directors are  
unable to determine whether this impact will have a material  
effect on the Corporation.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Remuneration report

This remuneration report, which forms part of the Directors’ Report, 
sets out information about the remuneration of the Corporation’s 
Directors and its senior executives for the financial year ended 
30 June 2012. The prescribed details for each person covered by 
this report are detailed below under the following headings:

 - Director and senior executive details

 - Remuneration policy

 -  Relationship between the remuneration policy 
and the company performance

 - Remuneration of directors and senior executives

 - Key terms of employment contracts.

Directors’ Report
For the financial year ended 30 June 2012

The Directors of Tasmanian Water and Sewerage Corporation 
(Southern Region) Pty Ltd (the Corporation), trading as Southern 
Water, present the Financial Report of the Corporation for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2012. In order to comply with the provisions 
of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors’ Report is as follows:

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Corporation during 
the course of the financial year were:

 -  providing water and sewerage services for residential and commercial 
customers throughout the Southern Region of Tasmania; and

 -  undertaking maintenance, upgrading and development 
works on water and sewerage assets, and preparing 
strategic asset development plans for the future.

Review of Operations

During the financial year, approximately 98,915 properties were provided 
with services involving the provision of water and removal of sewerage.

The Corporation reported a profit after tax of $12,135,000 
for the year ended 30 June 2012 (2011: $13,092,000).

A more detailed review of the Corporation’s operations during 
the year is contained elsewhere in the Annual Report.

Environmental Regulations

The Corporation’s operations are subject to various environmental 
regulations under both Commonwealth and State legislation. The 
Board has the responsibility to monitor compliance with environmental 
regulations. The Directors are not aware of any significant breaches 
during the year covered by the report apart from the failure of the 
Corporation’s sewage treatment plants to regularly comply with effluent 
discharge licences set by the Environmental Regulator. The Corporation 
has an agreed Wastewater Management Plan with the Environmental 
Regulator outlining initiatives and implementation schedules 
to address the Environmental Regulator’s priorities.

Dam Portfolio

The Corporation manages its dams using a Dam Portfolio Risk 
Assessment process. The majority of dams are compliant with the 
Australian National Council on Large Dams (ANCOLD) Dam Safety 
Management Guidelines 2003. The Corporation runs a substantial risk 
mitigation program. Those dams that fall outside any criteria of the 
Guidelines, including the Societal Risk Criteria, are being managed 
under additional mitigation plans which are provided to the Tasmanian 
Dam Safety Regulator. An annual report is provided to the Dam Safety 
Regulator regarding the status of all dams with a rating of significant 
hazard or above, and the Corporation has an obligation to immediately 
advise the Regulator of adverse developments in dam status.
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Remuneration of Directors and senior executives

The following table of benefits and payments details the components of remuneration for each person 
that acted as a Director of the Corporation during or since the end of the financial year: 

Non-executive  
Directors

2012 Financial Year 2011 Financial Year

Short-term  
benefits

Post-employment 
benefits

Short-term  
benefits

Post-employment 
benefits

Fees Superannuation Total Fees Superannuation Total

$ $ $ $ $ $

Mr Miles Hampton  
(Chair – from 01/01/2011) 

36,348 3,271 39,619 26,616 2,395 29,011

Mr Brian Bayley 21,665 1,950 23,615 17,326 1,559 18,885

Mr Nick Burrows 
(appointed 04/05/2011)

33,607 - 33,607 5,120 461 5,581

Ms Sarah Merridew  
(appointed 10/03/2011)

20,252 1,823 22,075 5,232 471 5,703

Dr Dan Norton 21,909 1,972 23,881 20,261 1,823 22,084

Dr Jane Sargison  
(appointed 18/08/2011)

25,685 2,312 27,997 - - -

Mr Geoff Willis  
(Chair – retired 31/12/2010)

- - - 18,063 1,626 19,688

Mr Roger Gill  
(retired 30/04/2011)

- - - 24,564 2,211 26,775

Mr Rob Woolley  
(retired 30/04/2011)

- - - 27,730 2,496 30,226

Total 159,466 11,328 170,794 144,912 13,042 157,953

Director and senior executive details

The following persons acted as directors of the company 
during or since the end of the financial year:

 - Mr Miles Hampton (Chair)

 - Mr Brian Bayley

 - Mr Nick Burrows

 - Ms Sarah Merridew

 - Dr Dan Norton

 - Dr Jane Sargison (Appointed 18 August 2011)

Other details regarding directors and their attendance 
at board meetings and relevant committee meetings are 
provided elsewhere within the Annual Report.

The term ‘senior executive’ is used in this remuneration 
report to refer to the following persons:

 - Mr Mike Paine, Chief Executive Officer

 - Mr Tony Baker, Executive Manager People and Culture

 -  Mr Gary Cossens, Acting Executive Manager 
Commercial Services – to 28 August 2011

 - Mr Ian Dunbabin, Executive Manager Service Delivery

 -  Mr Brian Edwards, Executive Manager Stakeholder and 
Sustainability Management – to 23 September 2011

 - Mr Russell Fox, Executive Manager Asset Planning and Delivery

 -  Mr Matthew Pigden, Chief Financial Officer – 
appointed 30 August 2011

 -  Mrs Carolyn Pillans, Executive Manager Governance 
and Strategy – appointed 17 October 2011

 - Mr Danny Sutton, Project Director Metering Tasmania – to 4 July 2011

 - Ms Angela Wright (part time), Executive Manager Customer Services.

Except as noted, the named persons held their current position for the 
whole of the financial year and since the end of the financial year.

Remuneration policy

Senior executives’ remuneration

The Board has approved a remuneration framework developed in 
conjunction with independent remuneration specialists, Mercer, 
and benchmarked nationally. The framework applies to senior 
executives, line managers and specific professional or expert 
positions and the CEO is obliged to work within its parameters.

The remuneration of senior executives is based on Total Employment 
Cost to the Corporation. Components of remuneration can include cash 
and non-cash alternatives as well as any fringe benefits tax incurred.  
No equity-based components are offered as part of any remuneration.

An ‘at risk’ element, in addition to Total Employment Cost, has been 
introduced for senior executives with a maximum possible amount 
determined by the Board. The performance of the senior executives 
is measured against criteria agreed annually in advance.

Non-executive Directors’ remuneration

Under the Water and Sewerage Corporations Act 2008 (WSCA), the state 
wide Owners’ Representative Group (ORG) is responsible for determining 
the remuneration and allowances for non-executive Directors. The 
ORG is appointed by the owners of the Regional Corporations and 
consists of three people from each region appointed by special majority. 
The ORG makes its determination of remuneration based on the 
recommendation of the Selection Committee, as described in WSCA.

Non-executive Directors are remunerated by way of fixed fees and 
superannuation payments as required by legislation. No other leave, 
termination or retirement benefits are accrued or paid to Directors. 

Directors are also entitled to reimbursement of expenses incurred 
while attending to Corporation business.

Non-executive Directors’ remuneration is increased annually by CPI 
provided that an independent review is not requested by the 
Selection Committee, ORG or the Board as a whole.

Relationship between the remuneration policy 
and the Corporation’s performance

The Corporation’s remuneration policy has been designed to align 
the objectives of senior executives with business objectives 
by providing both a fixed remuneration component and 
a performance based component. 

The CEO and all senior executives are appointed under employment 
contracts.  Senior executive performance based payments are based 
on performance objectives set at both an overriding corporate 
level and specific divisional levels.  Performance objectives are 
established and assessed annually.  The CEO’s performance against 
objectives is reviewed by the Board at least annually. For other 
senior executives the CEO reports to the Board at least annually 
on performance and recommends any subsequent performance 
based payment. The review and any payments are finalised 
upon completion of the audited financial statements. 

Whilst all incentives are linked to pre-determined performance criteria, 
the Board has ultimate discretion in approving payment of these.

Directors’ Report
For the financial year ended 30 June 2012

Directors’ Report
For the financial year ended 30 June 2012
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The following table discloses the remuneration details in bands 
for each person that acted as a senior executive of the Corporation 
during or since the end of the financial year:

Senior Executive  
Remuneration

2012 Financial Year 2011 Financial Year

Base Total Base Total

$0 - $9,999 1 - - -

$40,000 - $49,999 2 1 - -

$50,000 - $59,999 - - 1 1

$100,000 - $109,999 1 - - -

$110,000 - $119,999 - 1 - -

$120,000 - $129,999 - - 2 1

$130,000 - $139,999 1 - - -

$140,000 - $149,999 - - - 1

$150,000 - $159,999 1 2 3 -

$160,000 - $169,999 - - 1 -

$170,000 - $179,999 1 - 1 3

$180,000 - $189,999 1 1 - -

$190,000 - $199,999 - - - 1

$200,000 - $209,999 - 1 - 1

$210,000 - $219,999 - 1 - -

$220,000 - $229,999 - - 1 -

$230,000 - $239,999 1 1 - -

$270,000 - $279,999 - - - 1

$280,000 - $289,999 - 1 - -

Total 9 9 9 9
- Base remuneration represents gross salary.

- Total remuneration includes base salary, superannuation and where applicable 
bonuses and/or termination benefits. The bonus (‘at risk’) component is limited 
to 10% of the TEC for senior executives and 15% of the TEC for the CEO.

- The Chief Financial Officer’s salary is paid directly by Onstream 
with a component reimbursed by Southern Water.

Key terms of employment contracts

Senior executive staff

The employment terms and conditions of senior executives 
are formalised in Individual Employment Agreements. 

Consistent with legislated requirements, senior executives receive 
a superannuation guarantee contribution, which is currently 9%, 
or alternatively, where they are members of a defined benefits 
fund, accrue superannuation benefits in accordance with the 
rules of the fund. Senior executives do not receive any other 
retirement benefits. However, some individuals have chosen 
to sacrifice part of their salary to increase payments towards 
superannuation. Upon retirement, senior executives are paid 
employee benefit entitlements accrued to the date of retirement.

Terms of employment require the senior executive or the Corporation 
to provide a minimum notice period prior to termination of contract, 
subject to conditions of the Fair Work Act (2009), where applicable. 
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The length of notice varies between Individual Employment 
Agreements, however it is generally 3-6 months. Under certain 
circumstances senior executives may be paid a redundancy, the level 
of which is dependent on individual contractual arrangements and 
length of contract served. Termination payments are not payable on 
resignation or under circumstances of unsatisfactory performance.

Non-executive Directors

Appointment conditions for independent Directors are specified in 
both WSCA and formal letters of appointment. These include:

 - maximum 3 year term;

 -  either the independent Director, the Corporation or the ORG 
may terminate the relationship on 3 months’ notice or 
immediately in certain situations;

 -  the Corporation is to ensure that it has appropriate 
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance. 

Further Information about the remuneration of Directors and senior 
executives is set out in Note 17 to the financial statements.

Indemnification of Directors and Officers

During the financial year, the Corporation paid a premium 
in respect of an insurance policy covering the liability of 
all current Directors and Officers of the Corporation.

The Corporation has not otherwise, during or since the financial 
year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the 
Corporation against a liability incurred as such by an officer or auditor.

Proceedings on Behalf of the Corporation

No person has applied for leave of the Court to bring proceedings on 
behalf of the Corporation or intervene in any proceedings to which 
the Corporation is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on 
behalf of the Corporation for all or any part of those proceedings.

The Corporation was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration

The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 48.

Rounding of amounts

The Corporation is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 
dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class Order, amounts 
in the Financial Report and Directors’ Report have been rounded 
to the nearest thousand dollars unless otherwise stated.

This Directors’ Report is signed in accordance with a resolution of 
Directors made pursuant to s.298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

Miles Hampton   Sarah Merridew 
Chair    Director 
10 August 2012

Directors’ Report
For the financial year ended 30 June 2012
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10 August 2012

FINANCIAL REPORT 1 JULY 2011 TO 30 JUNE 2012
DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

The Directors declare that:

a) The attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with accounting standards;

b) The attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the financial 
position and performance of the Corporation;

c) In the Directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth);

d) In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Corporation will be 
able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and

e) The Directors have been given the declarations as set out in Section 295A of the 
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) from the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2012.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to s.295 (5) of the 
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Miles Hampton
Chair

Sarah Merridew
Director
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Notes
2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Continuing Operations

Sales Revenue 4 111,398 111,928 

Other Income from Operating Activities 4 15,180 12,982 

Share of Net Profit of Associate – Equity Method 22 25 79 

Raw Materials and Consumables 5 (9,261) (8,934)

Depreciation and Amortisation Expenses 5 (30,243) (29,780)

Employee and Related Expenses 5 (30,093) (29,718)

Operations and Maintenance Expenses 5 (13,854) (13,238)

Cost of External Works including New Connections 5 (1,650) (508)

Administration Expenses 5 (16,189) (16,438)

Net Profit before Net Financing Costs 25,313 26,373

Financing Income 4 165 400

Financing Expenses 5 (8,119) (7,866)

Net Financing Costs (7,954) (7,466)

Net Profit before Income Tax Equivalents Expense 17,359 18,907 

Income Tax Equivalents Expense 6.1 (5,224) (5,815)

Net Profit after Income Tax Equivalents Expense 12.1 12,135 13,092 

Other Comprehensive Income

Actuarial Loss on Defined Benefit Plans 13 (2,017) (358)

Share of Other Comprehensive Loss of Associate 22 (90) (35)

Income Tax Relating to Components of Other 
Comprehensive Income

6.2 604 108 

Total Other Comprehensive Income (1,503) (285)

Total Comprehensive Income for the Period 10,632 12,807 

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

For the financial year ended 30 June 2012
Statement of Comprehensive Income

Notes
2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 8.1 1,324 6,165

Receivables 8.2 32,582 28,584

Inventories 8.3 4,774 3,767 

Prepayments 126 226 

Current Tax Asset 6.3 603 1,121 

Total Current Assets 39,409 39,863 

Non-current Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment 9 1,109,918 1,071,625 

Intangibles 10 1,201 2,462 

Deferred Tax Assets 6.4 26,621 24,343 

Investment in Associate 22 8 73 

Total Non-current Assets 1,137,748 1,098,503 

Total Assets 1,177,157 1,138,366 

Current Liabilities

Borrowings 11.1 49,404 30,455 

Employee Benefits 11.2 6,444 6,562 

Payables 11.3 12,007 15,442 

Unearned Income 11.4 670 1,015 

Other Liabilities 11.5 325 325 

Total Current Liabilities 68,850 53,799 

Non-current Liabilities

Borrowings 11.1 97,171 86,824 

Employee Benefits 11.2 8,234 6,495 

Unearned Income 11.4 31,609 21,519 

Other Non-Current Liabilities 11.5 3,078 5,000 

Deferred Tax Liabilities 6.4 45,077 43,611 

Total Non-current Liabilities 185,169 163,449 

Total Liabilities 254,019 217,248 

Net Assets 923,138 921,118

Equity

Retained Profits 12.1 13,591 11,571 

Contributed Equity 12.2 909,547 909,547 

Total Equity 923,138 921,118 

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Financial Position
For the financial year ended 30 June 2012
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Notes
2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts from Customers 116,240 118,262 

Receipts from Other Sources 2,463 774 

Payments to Suppliers and Employees (80,115) (71,731)

Headwork Charges 6,386 4,740 

Interest Received 166 412 

Interest Paid (6,162) (6,431)

Guarantee Fees Paid to Councils (1,077) (976)

Income Tax Equivalents Paid 6.3 (4,889) (6,051)

Net Cash from Operating Activities 19.1 33,012 38,999

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Payments for Property, Plant and Equipment (58,494) (51,461)

Interest Paid for Capital Works (1,769) (468)

Payment for Capitalised Employee and Direct Costs (6,573) (4,922)

Proceeds from Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment 214 388 

Net Cash used in Investing Activities (66,622) (56,463)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from Borrowings 74,713 61,761 

Repayment of Borrowings (45,416) (52,510)

Dividends Paid 12.1 (8,612) (7,521)

Grant Funds 8,084 4,377 

Net Cash from Financing Activities 28,769 6,107

Net decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents (4,841) (11,357)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Year 6,165 17,522

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year 19.2 1,324 6,165

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Notes

Retained 
Profits
$’000

Contributed 
Equity
$’000

Total  
Equity
$’000

Balance as at 1 July 2010 6,285 909,547 915,832

Net Profit after Income Tax Equivalents Expense 12.1 13,092 - 13,092

Dividends paid 12.1 (7,521) - (7,521)

Other comprehensive income (285) - (285)

Balance as at 30 June 2011 11,571 909,547 921,118

Net Profit after Income Tax Equivalents Expense 12.1 12,135 - 12,135 

Dividends paid 12.1 (8,612) - (8,612)

Other comprehensive income (1,503) - (1,503)

Balance as at 30 June 2012 13,591 909,547 923,138 

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Cash Flows Statement of Changes in Equity
For the financial year ended 30 June 2012 For the financial year ended 30 June 2012
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 1 General Information

 Tasmanian Water and Sewerage Corporation (Southern Region) Pty Ltd (the Corporation),  
trading as Southern Water, is a propriety limited company incorporated in Australia.  
The address of the Corporation’s registered office is 169 Main Road, Moonah, Tasmania. 

 The principal activities of the Corporation are the provision of water and sewerage services for 
residential and commercial customers throughout the Southern Region of Tasmania.

 2 Application of new and revised accounting standards

 2.1 Standards and Interpretations affecting amounts reported in the current period (and/or prior periods)

 None of the new or revised Standards and Interpretations which have been adopted 
in the current period have affected any of the amounts recognised in the current 
period or any prior period and are not likely to affect future periods. 

 2.2 New and Revised Standards and Interpretations which have had no effect on financial statements

 The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations, that have become effective for the current 
reporting period, have not had any significant impact on the amounts reported in this Financial Report.

 

Standard/Interpretation Affected Standards

AASB 2010-4 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from the Annual Improvements Project [AASB 1,7,101,134]

AASB 124 Related Party changes to definitions and certain related 
party disclosures for government related entities.

AASB 2009-14 Amendments to Australian Interpretation – Prepayments 
of a Minimum Funding Requirement

AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets

AASB 1054 ‘Australian 
Additional Disclosures’

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from Trans-Tasman Convergence Project

AASB 2010-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1, 
3, 4, 5, 101, 107, 112, 118, 119, 132,137 and 139] 

 2.3 Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted

  At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the Standards and 
Interpretations listed below were in issue but not yet effective.

 

 

Standard/Interpretation Effective for annual 
reporting periods 

beginning on or after

Expected to be 
initially applied in the 
financial year ending 

AASB 2010-8 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets’

1 January 2012 30 June 2013

AASB 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, AASB 2009-11 ‘Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9’ 
and AASB 2010-7 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010)’

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2010-10 ‘Further Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Removal of Fixed Dates for First Time Adopters’

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2011-4 ‘Further amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards to remove individual personnel disclosure requirements’

1 July 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2011-8 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13’

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2011-9 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Presentation of other items of other Comprehensive Income’

1 July 2012 30 June 2013

AASB 2011-10 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB119 (September 2011)

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2011-12 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from Interpretation 20 [AASB 1]

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

 The adoption of the various Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations in issue but  
not yet effective are not expected to materially impact the Corporation’s accounting policies.  
The Corporation does not intend to adopt any of these pronouncements before their effective dates. 

 3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

 3.1 Statement of Compliance

 This Financial Report is a general-purpose financial report, prepared in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001 (Cth), relevant Australian Accounting Standards of the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
(AASB) and other laws where applicable. The Financial Report also complies with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and Interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board.

 The Financial Report was approved by the Board of Directors on 10 August 2012.

 3.2 Basis of Preparation

 The Financial Report is prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for certain non-current assets 
and financial instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values, as explained in the 
accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair values of the consideration given 
in exchange for the assets. All figures unless indicated otherwise are reported in Australian dollars. 

 The Corporation is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100, dated 10 July 1998, 
and in accordance with that Class Order amounts in the Financial Report are rounded 
off to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000), unless otherwise stated.

 The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the 
preparation and presentation of the Financial Report:

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 30 June 2012

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 30 June 2012
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 3.3 Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates and Assumptions

 In the application of AASB standards, management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions 
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates 
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

 Fair Value of Property, Plant and Equipment

 Various assumptions and judgements are utilised in determining the fair value of the Corporation’s 
property, plant and equipment. These assumptions are discussed in Notes 3.10, 3.14 and 9.

 Defined Benefit Superannuation Fund Obligations

 Various actuarial assumptions are utilised in the determination of the Corporation’s defined benefit 
superannuation fund obligations. These assumptions are discussed in Notes 3.15 and 13.

 3.4 Revenue Recognition

 Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

 Sale of Water

 Fixed water charges are billed and recognised on a quarterly basis. Usage charges are recognised when water is 
metered as passing from the Corporation’s distribution system to the customer. Unbilled water sales is an estimate 
of the value of water supplied to the customer between the date of the last meter reading and the year end, and 
is included in water income within sales revenue and in the Statement of Financial Position as a receivable.

 Sewerage Income

 Fixed charges for the collection and treatment of sewerage are billed and recognised on a quarterly basis. Variable 
sewerage charges (industrial customers) are recognised when waste is metered as passing from the customer to 
the Corporation’s collection system. Unbilled sewerage income (including trade waste) is an estimate of the value 
of sewerage treated on behalf of the customer between the date of the last meter reading and the year end, and 
is included in sewerage income within sales revenue and in the Statement of Financial Position as a receivable.

 Interest Income

 Interest income is recognised as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the financial asset.

 Sale of Non-Current Assets

 The net gain (loss) on non-current asset sales is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income at the date the control of the asset passes to the buyer, usually at the point an unconditional 
written contract is signed and the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred 
to the buyer. The gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between the carrying 
amount of the asset at the time of the disposal and the net proceeds on disposal. 

 Government Funded Compensation

 As part of the 2011-12 State budget the Government announced changes to the existing funding arrangements 
with respect to revenue forgone. Under the new arrangements, the Corporation will receive funding in 2011-
12 and 2012-13. Any such compensation payments are recorded as sales revenue on an accrual basis.

 Government Funded Concessions

 The Corporation has an agreement with the Crown in right of the State of Tasmania to provide community 
services in the form of a concession and for the Corporation to be reimbursed for the community services 
costs and administration costs. Any such reimbursements are recorded as sales revenue on an accrual basis.

 

  3.4 Revenue Recognition (continued)

 Grants

 Grants are recognised when received or when the Corporation obtains control over the assets comprising the 
contributions. Government grants of a revenue nature are recognised as income over the periods necessary to 
match related costs. Government grants related to assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position 
as a deferred liability and are recognised as revenue on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset. 

 Customer Contributions and Developer Charges

 Customer contributions and developer charges received for no consideration are recognised 
at fair value and treated as revenue when received unless they are directly associated with an 
incomplete capital project, in which case they are included as a liability and capital work in progress 
in the Statement of Financial Position and recognised when the project is completed.

 3.5 Goods and Services Tax

 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

 i.    where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised 
as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

 ii.   for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.

 The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority is included as part of receivables or payables. 

 Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST component 
of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, 
or payable to, the taxation authority is classified within operating cash flows.

 3.6 Taxation

 Income tax equivalents expense on the profit for the year comprises current and deferred tax. 
Income tax is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income except to the extent that 
it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. 

 Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantially enacted at the balance date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

 Income tax equivalent payments are distributed to owner Councils in 
accordance with the Treasurer’s Allocation Order.

 Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method and represents the temporary 
differences arising between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in 
the Financial Report. Deferred tax assets relating to deductible temporary differences and tax 
losses are only brought to account when their realisation is probable (Refer Note 6). 

 3.7 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks and investments in money market 
instruments which are readily convertible to cash on hand and which are used in the cash management 
function on a day-to-day basis. Cash assets are brought to account at amortised cost. 

 3.8 Inventories 

 Inventories comprise treated water on hand, where material, and stores and materials used  
in the construction of new works and for the repair and maintenance of existing assets.  
All inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Costs are assigned to inventory 
quantities on hand at balance date on a weighted average cost basis. Inventories include goods 
held for distribution at no or nominal cost in the ordinary course of business operations.
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 3.9 Receivables

 Trade receivables are recognised at their amortised cost less an allowance for impairment losses (Refer Note 3.14). 
Debts are written off when collection is no longer probable. Trade receivables comprise residential, commercial, 
industrial and irrigation customers and other sundry debtors. Settlement terms for customers range from 14 to 
31 days from invoice date. Receivables include unbilled water and sewerage income as detailed in Note 3.4.

 3.10 Property, Plant and Equipment

 (a)  Construction of Property, Plant and Equipment

    The cost of property, plant and equipment constructed by the Corporation includes the cost of all materials 
used in construction, applicable borrowing and financing expenses (Refer Note 3.17) and the cost of direct 
labour on the project. Internal labour and other related costs may also form part of the project cost.

 (b) Acquisition of Property, Plant and Equipment

    Property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at the cost of acquisition. Cost is 
determined as the purchase value of the asset at the date of acquisition plus costs incidental 
to the acquisition including applicable borrowing and financing expenses (Refer Note 3.17). 
Developer contributions received for no consideration are recorded at fair value.

 (c) Valuations and Recoverable Amounts of Property, Plant and Equipment

    Infrastructure Assets, Freehold Land and Buildings are carried at fair value. At the end of each reporting period, 
the Corporation reviews the carrying amounts of the assets held within the asset class (Refer Note 3.14). 

    Other Assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment adjustments. 
Other Assets include motor vehicles, furniture, fittings, telemetry equipment and IT hardware. 

  (d) Depreciation

    Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (other than land) is calculated on an individually 
assessed economic life using the straight-line method of depreciation, so as to write off the net 
cost (or previously revalued amounts) of each asset over its expected useful life. The economic 
life of property other than land, plant and equipment is reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 

   The assessed economic life of property, plant and equipment is summarised as follows: 

   Dams / Earthworks:  135 years 

   Pipelines:  30 – 140 years

   Civil / Structural:  30 – 100 years

   Other Infrastructure:  5 – 40 years

   Buildings: 50 – 85 years

   Leasehold Improvements: 2 – 10 years

   Other Assets: 2 – 25 years

 (e) Subsequent Costs

    The Corporation recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of 
replacing part of such an item when that cost is incurred if it is probable that the future economic benefits 
embodied within the item will flow to the Corporation and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
All other costs are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an expense as incurred.

 3.11 Leased Property, Plant and Equipment

 Leases of property, plant and equipment are classified as operating leases where the leasor retains 
substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership. Lease payments are charged against profits in equal 
instalments over the accounting periods covered by the lease terms, except where an alternative basis 
would be more representative of the patterns of benefits to be derived from the leased property.

 3.12 Intangible Assets

 (a) Acquired separately

    Separately acquired intangible assets comprise costs associated with the purchase and 
development of computer software.  Intangible assets are initially recorded at their 
cost of acquisition.  Cost is determined as the purchase value of the asset at the date of 
acquisition plus costs incidental to the acquisition, including direct labour costs.

  (b)  Internally-generated

    Internally-generated intangible assets comprise development costs associated with 
the development of specific business management systems.  An internally-generated 
intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal 
project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

   - the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

   - the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

   - the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

   - how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

   -  the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete 
the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

   - the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

    The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure 
incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. 
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred.

  (c) Amortisation

    Amortisation of intangible assets is calculated on an individually assessed economic life using the straight-
line method of amortisation, so as to write off the net cost (or previously revalued amounts) of each asset 
over its expected useful life. The estimated useful life of computer software is between 2 and 10 years.

 3.13 Investment in Associate

  Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method in accordance with AASB 128 and  
are initially recognised at cost.

  The Corporation’s share of profits and losses of an associate is recognised in its Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, with an equivalent adjustment to the carrying value of the investment. 
The Corporation’s share of movements in an associate’s equity that has not been recognised in 
the associate’s Statement of Comprehensive Income is recognised directly in equity.
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  3.14 Impairment

 The Corporation’s assets including its deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

 An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds 
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income unless an 
asset has previously been revalued, in which case the impairment loss is recognised as a reversal to the extent 
of that previous revaluation with any excess recognised through the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

 (a)  Calculation of recoverable amount

    Impairment of receivables is calculated as a percentage of overdue receivables balances 
at year end after taking into account specific customer segments with reference to past 
default experience. The actual percentage applied depends on the age of the debt. 

    In undertaking the impairment testing of its infrastructure and intangible assets it has been determined 
that the Corporation’s assets operate as two cash-generating units; water and sewerage. The recoverable 
amount of these assets is the greater of their fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the assets.

 (b) Reversals of impairment

    Impairment losses are reversed when there is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer exist and 
there has been a change in the estimate used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

 3.15 Employee Entitlements

 (a) Wages, Salaries, Annual Leave, Accrued Days Off and Time in Lieu

    A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, 
annual leave, accrued days off and time in lieu when it is probable that settlement will be 
required and they are capable of being measured reliably.

    Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits that are expected to be settled  
within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at their nominal values using  
the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

    Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits that are not expected to be settled within 
12 months of the reporting date are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflows to be made by the Corporation in respect of the services provided at reporting date.

    Regardless of the expected timing of settlements, liabilities in respect of employee benefits are classified 
as a current liability, unless there is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the reporting date, in which case it would be classified as a non-current liability.

 (b) Long Service Leave (LSL)

    Current Liability – unconditional LSL (representing 10 or more years of continuous service) 
is disclosed as a current liability even where the Corporation does not expect to settle the 
liability within 12 months because it does not have the unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months. 

   The components of this current LSL liability are measured at: 

   - Present value – component that the Corporation does not expect to settle within 12 months; and 

   - Nominal value – component that the Corporation expects to settle within 12 months. 

 3.15 Employee Entitlements (continued)

    Non-current Liability – conditional LSL (representing less than 10 years of continuous 
service) is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer 
the settlement of the entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite 
years of service. Conditional LSL is required to be measured at present value. 

    In calculating present value, consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, 
experience of employee departures and periods of service.  Expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to 
maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.  

    A liability for LSL is recognised and is measured on the basis of the present value of the expected future cash 
outflows at balance date, including superannuation. The market yields on government bonds are used to 
determine the present value of the future cash flows. The classification of the liability for long service leave 
is on the basis that entitlements in respect of service greater than 10 years are shown as a current liability. 

  (c) Superannuation

    Provision is made for the Corporation’s future liability for employees’ superannuation entitlements under 
the Retirement Benefits Fund Scheme and the Quadrant Defined Benefits Scheme (for former employees 
of the Hobart City Council). The provision is fully provided for by the Corporation (refer Note 13).

    The provision in relation to the Retirement Benefits Fund Scheme is based on an actuarial valuation 
conducted by Mercer (Australia) Pty Ltd and the provision in relation to the Quadrant Defined 
Benefits Scheme is based on an actuarial valuation conducted by Bendzulla Actuarial Pty Ltd.

    The Corporation, on an emerging cost basis, pays its portion of the future service component 
of death and disablement benefits under the Retirement Benefits Fund Scheme. 

    In accordance with accounting standard AASB 119 Employee Benefits, the Corporation has elected to 
recognise actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans through Other Comprehensive Income.

    The Corporation also makes superannuation contributions for a number of its employees to another 
Quadrant Defined Benefits Fund, which is a sub fund of the Quadrant Superannuation Scheme. 
This Fund is classified as a multi-employer sponsored plan. As the Fund’s assets and liabilities are 
pooled and are not allocated by the employer, the Actuary, Bendzulla Actuarial Pty Ltd, is unable to 
allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between employees. As provided under paragraph 32 (b) 
of AASB119, the Corporation does not use defined benefit accounting for these contributions.

    The Corporation also contributes at least the minimum level of support required by the 
Commonwealth Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992, to a number of complying 
accumulated benefits superannuation funds. Contributions are expensed as they are made. 

 3.16 Borrowings

  All borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest bearing borrowings are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 3.17 Borrowing and Financing Expenses

  Borrowing and financing expenses directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready 
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets 
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

 All other borrowing and financing expenses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
in the period in which they are incurred.

 Included in Borrowing and Financing Expenses is the Government Guarantee Fee (GGF) which is 
administered by the Department of Treasury and Finance Tasmania. The purpose of the GGF is 
to neutralise the competitive advantage of the Corporation having access to funding through the 
Tasmanian Public Finance Corporation (Tascorp). The GGF is payable to owner Councils.
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 3.18 Payables

 Trade payables are recognised at amortised cost when the Corporation becomes obliged 
to make future payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services. Trade 
payables are unsecured and are usually settled with 30 days of recognition.

 3.19 Provisions

 Provisions are recognised when the Corporation has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Corporation will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

 The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material). 

 (a) Rehabilitation and Restoration

    The Corporation assesses on an annual basis whether there is an obligation to establish a provision 
for site rehabilitation taking into account plant or other activity which has been decommissioned 
during the year and plans to decommission in future years. The amount to be provisioned will 
include the cost of necessary works to rehabilitate the site to conditions nominated in statute 
or government regulations or to satisfy community or other expectations. When appropriate 
the future rehabilitation costs may be discounted by a present value technique. 

 3.20 Dividends Payable

 Dividends payable are recognised when approved by the Board of the Corporation (Refer 
Note 7). In accordance with accounting standards final dividends are not recognised in 
the financial statements unless they are declared prior to the balance date. 

 3.21 Financial Instruments

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Corporation becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. 

   3.21.1 Financial Assets

    Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value 
through Statement of Comprehensive Income’, ‘held-to-maturity’ investments, ‘available-for-
sale’ financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’. The Corporation does not currently hold, nor is it 
likely to hold, any financial assets classified ‘at fair value through the ‘Statement of Comprehensive 
Income’, ‘held to maturity’ investments, or ‘available for sale’. The classification depends on the 
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

   Effective interest method

    The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument 
and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the debt instrument, 
or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

   Loans and receivables

    Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market are classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest income 
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the 
recognition of interest would be immaterial. Loans and receivables exclude statutory receivables.

 3.21 Financial Instruments (continued)

   Impairment of financial assets

    Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets 
are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment 
have been affected. Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

   3.21.2 Financial Liabilities

    Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at Fair Value through the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income’ or ‘other financial liabilities’. Currently the Corporation does not hold 
financial liabilities classified at fair value through the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

   Other financial liabilities

   Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.

    Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis. 

    The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and 
of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, 
or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

 3.22 Comparisons with previous year

 Where necessary, comparative figures are adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current year.

For the financial year ended 30 June 2012

 4. Revenue 

  

 

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Sales Revenue:
Water - Service Charge 48,357 46,842 
Sewerage - Service Charge 46,902 44,291 
Water - Usage Charges 6,912 7,623 
Sewerage - Usage Charge 1,550 1,561 
Irrigation Income 387 461 
State Government Funded Compensation (Note 3.4) 1,925 6,089 
State Government Funded Concessions 3,081 2,719 
Other Fees and Charges including new connections 2,284 2,342 
Total Sales Revenue 111,398 111,928 

Other Income from Operating Activities:
Contributed Assets and Headwork Charges 14,117 11,952 
Government Grants 525 739 
Other 538 291 
Total Other Income from Operating Activities 15,180 12,982 

Financing Income:
Interest Earned - Deposits and Investments 165 400 
Total Financing Income 165 400 

Total Revenue 126,743 125,310 
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 5. Expenses

 

 

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Raw Material and Consumables:
Power Costs 5,103 5,577 
Water Commission Rights 1,241 1,237 
Chemicals 2,301 1,779 
Change in Water Inventory 616 341 
Total 9,261 8,934 

Depreciation and Amortisation Expenses:
Infrastructure Assets 26,802 26,823 
Buildings and Leasehold Improvements 500 964 
Other Assets 2,052 1,754 
Intangibles 889 239 
Total 30,243 29,780 

Employee and Related Expenses:
Salaries and On-Costs 35,731 33,234 
Less Capitalised Salaries (6,573) (4,922)
Training and Travel 396 622 
Other 539 784 
Total 30,093 29,718 

Operations and Maintenance Expenses:
Maintenance and Planning 7,377 7,330 
Water Sampling 681 796 
Property Costs 952 646 
Motor Vehicles 1,665 1,566 
Leases 397 489
Supporting Operating Systems and Equipment 2,782 2,411 
Total 13,854 13,238 

Cost of External Works including new connections 1,650 508

Administration Expenses:
Insurance 687 620 
Services provided by Associate (Notes 18.3 and 22) 5,851 6,046 
Billing costs - printing, postage and bank fees 1,558 -
Rates, Land Tax and Property Costs 1,155 1,043 
Consultancies 1,434 2,771 
Leases 1,216 815 
Information Systems and Communications 874 746
Loss on Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment 190 895
Allowance for Impaired Trade Receivables and Bad Debts 792 785
Governance and Regulatory 1,152 913 
Other Administration 1,280 1,804 
Total 16,189 16,438 

Financing Expenses:
Interest Expense - Borrowings 8,300 6,896 
Government Guarantee Fee Expense (paid to owner Councils) 1,087 979 
Less Amount Capitalised(1) (1,769) (468)
Interest Expense - Superannuation 501 459 
Total 8,119 7,866 
(1) Average capitalisation rate is 18.85% p.a. (2011: 6.3% p.a.)

Total Expenses 109,409 106,482 
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 6. Income Tax Equivalents

6.1  Income tax equivalents recognised in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Current tax equivalents 5,407 5,234

Deferred tax equivalents relating to the origination  
and reversal of temporary differences

(183) 581

Total income tax equivalents expense 5,224 5,815

Attributable to continuing operations 5,224  5,815

5,224  5,815

The prima facie income tax equivalents on pre-tax accounting profit from
operations reconciles to the income tax equivalents in the financial 
statements as follows:
Profit from continuing operations 17,359 18,907

Income tax equivalents calculated at 30% 5,208 5,672

Non-deductible expenses 9 10

Other 7 133

Income tax equivalents expense 5,224 5,815

The tax equivalent rate used in the reconciliation above is the national tax 
equivalent rate of 30% payable by Australian national tax equivalent entities 
on profits under Australian tax law.

6.2 Deferred tax equivalents recognised directly in equity
The following current and deferred tax equivalents were charged directly to 
equity during the period:
Actuarial loss on defined benefit plan 604 108

604 108

6.3 Current tax equivalent assets and liabilities
Opening balance 1,121 304

National tax equivalent payable (5,407) (5,234)

Instalments paid - current year 4,889 6,051

Closing balance 603 1,121

6.4 Deferred tax equivalent assets and liabilities

Deferred tax equivalent assets comprise:

Tax losses - revenue 11,916 13,020

Temporary differences 14,705 11,323

26,621 24,343

Deferred tax equivalent liabilities comprise:

Temporary differences (45,077) (43,611)

(45,077)  (43,611)

Net deferred tax equivalent liabilities:  (18,456)  (19,268)
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 6. Income Tax Equivalents (continued)

 6.4  Deferred tax equivalent assets and liabilities (continued)

 Taxable and deductible differences arise from the following:

30 June 2012

Opening  
Balance

$’000

Charged to  
Income

$’000

Charged  
to Equity

$’000

Acquisitions/ 
Disposals

$’000

Closing  
Balance

$’000
Deferred tax equivalent assets:       

Provisions 4,369 11 604 25 5,009 

Tax losses 13,020 (1,104) -   - 11,916

Other 6,954 2,742 - - 9,696 

24,343 1,649 604 25 26,621 

Deferred tax equivalent liabilities:

Property, plant and equipment (43,611) (1,445) - -  (45,056)

Other -  (21) -  -   (21)

(43,611) (1,466) - -  (45,077)

Net deferred tax equivalent liabilities: (19,268) 183 604 25 (18,456)

Attributable to:

Continuing operations (19,268) (18,456)

30 June 2011

Opening  
Balance

$’000

Charged to  
Income

$’000

Charged  
to Equity

$’000

Acquisitions/ 
Disposals

$’000

Closing  
Balance

$’000
Deferred tax equivalent assets:       

Provisions 3,470 791 108 - 4,369

Tax losses 13,020 - - - 13,020

Other 5,931 1,024 (1) - 6,954

22,421 1,815 107 - 24,343

Deferred tax equivalent liabilities:

Property, plant and equipment (41,205) (2,406) - - (43,611)

Other (10) 10 - - -

(41,215) (2,396) - - (43,611)

Net deferred tax equivalent liabilities: (18,794) (581) 107  - (19,268)

Attributable to:

Continuing operations (18,794) (19,268)

Gross cumulative tax equivalent losses of $39,720,131 (2011: $43,401,053), tax effect $11,916,039 (2011: $13,020,316), were brought 
to account as a deferred tax asset. Included in the cumulative tax equivalent losses are losses transferred from Hobart Water at the 
inception of the Corporation. The utilisation of transferred losses is limited by the ‘available fraction’ method. The Corporation’s 
carry forward losses are classified as an asset on the basis of certainty of recouping the loss at some time in the future.

This benefit for tax equivalent losses will only be obtained if:

a)  The Corporation derives future assessable tax equivalent income of a nature and amount sufficient 
to enable the benefit from the deduction for the tax equivalent losses to be realised;

b) The Corporation continues to comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by legislation; and

c) No changes in legislation adversely affect the Corporation in realising the benefit from the deduction for the tax equivalent losses.

Availability of tax losses is subject to the Corporation continuing in its current structure. Consideration is currently being given to a 
merger of the Tasmanian regional water and sewerage corporations and their shared service provider. The availability of the losses 
to a merged organisation would be subject to transitional provisions and the application of the loss recognition provisions.

 7. Dividends

 On 8 February 2012 the Board of Southern Water approved the payment of a $4,789,000 (2011: $5,666,000) 
interim dividend from 2011-12 estimated profits. This dividend was paid on 30 April 2012.

 On 13 June 2012 the Board approved the payment of a further interim dividend of $1,131,724 (2011: $Nil)  
which was paid on 28 June 2012.

 On 10 August 2012 the Board approved the payment of a final dividend of $2,085,175 (2011: $2,691,217).   
In accordance with accounting standards the final dividend was not recognised in the financial statements  
at 30 June 2012 as it was not declared prior to the balance date.

 Dividends were distributed to owners in accordance with the Treasurer’s Allocation Order.

 8. Current Assets

8.1 Cash and Cash Equivalents 2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Cash at Bank and on Hand 1,316 5,923 

Cash Management Account with Tascorp 8 242 

1,324 6,165 

8.2 Receivables

Trade receivables 28,889 24,762 

Less allowance for impaired trade receivables (1,835) (1,114)

Unbilled water and sewerage income 2,515 2,807 

Net GST receivable 1,067 1,394 

Other current receivables 1,946 735 

32,582 28,584 

An ageing analysis of receivables is provided in note 20.3.

Movement in allowance for impaired trade receivables

Opening balance 1,114 557 

Increase in allowance 792 785 

Amounts written off during the year (71) (228)

Closing balance 1,835 1,114 

An allowance is made for estimated unrecoverable amounts when there is 
objective evidence that an individual receivable is impaired. The increase in 
the allowance was recognised in the net result for the current year.

8.3 Inventories (at cost)

Stores and consumables at cost 4,774 3,151 

Water (1) - 616 

Total 4,774 3,767 
 
(1)  During the current year, the Corporation changed its approach with respect to water inventory and no longer recognises the value  

of water in storage, unless it is material. This change was applied from 1 July 2011. As the value of water in storage was immaterial  
at 30 June 2012, no water inventory was recognised as at that date.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 30 June 2012



SOUTHERN WATER 2011-12 ANNUAL REPORT 70 SOUTHERN WATER 2011-12 ANNUAL REPORT 71

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 30 June 2012

 9. Property, Plant and Equipment

 Fair value of assets contributed by the twelve owner Councils and Hobart Water was determined by an 
independent valuation based on depreciated replacement cost as at 1 July 2009. Additions are recognised at 
cost. The recoverable amount was lower than depreciated replacement cost and this amount was used for the 
initial recognition of the asset values. No impairment loss was recorded as this was the initial recognition of asset 
values. Subsequent to determining their fair value, the assets were then tested for impairment by applying a 
cash-generating unit test to determine their recoverable amount, which represents their value in use. The cash-
generating unit test calculates the discounted present value of the net cash inflows that the Corporation expects 
to be generated from its assets, operating together within separately identified cash-generating units, over their 
expected useful lives. Two cash generating units were identified for the Corporation, water and sewerage. 

 The impairment test has also been performed for the current reporting period, which resulted in no impairment at 
30 June 2012. The test is highly dependent on the assumptions used to estimate the future net cash flows that are 
derived from the relevant assets. Therefore this calculation contains an element of subjectivity and uncertainty in 
relation to these assumptions. The main assumptions were:

 

Item Assumption

Discount rate Real pre-tax weighted average cost of capital of 7.18% per annum (2011: 7.46%).

The Risk Free Rate is a key input into the determination of the Weighted Average 
Cost of Capital. A 20 day average of the 10 year Australian Commonwealth bond 
rate was used as the risk free rate in the prior year calculation. In the current 
year this has been extended to a 10 year average of the 10 year Australian 
Commonwealth bond rate. This is considered to be more reflective of the long-life 
nature of the Corporation’s assets.

CPI rate 2.75% per annum (2011: 2.50%)

Period of discounting 7 years (2011: 7 years) with a terminal value, based on a perpetuity factor of 15.43 
(2011: 14.79), applied for subsequent years.

Cash inflows Based on most recent revenue forecast and Corporate Plan estimates, 
incorporating nominal average price increase of 6.00% per annum (2011: 6.00%) 
as per the Price and Service Plan. After allowing for CPI the real price increase is 
3.25% per annum (2011: 3.50%).

Cash outflows Based on most recent expenditure forecast and Corporate Plan, incorporating 
nominal average cost increase of 1.75% per annum (2011: 1.75%) and labour 
increase of 0.00% (2011: 4.75%). After allowing for CPI the real cost decrease is 
1.00% (2011: 0.75%) and the real labour decrease of 2.75% per annum (2011: 
2.25% increase) assumed.

Capital expenditure as per most recent forecast and Corporate Plan.

 9. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)
2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Infrastructure Assets - Water

At Fair Value 617,083 578,527 

Accumulated Depreciation (37,894) (25,164)

579,189 553,363 

Infrastructure Assets - Sewerage

At Fair Value 460,792 453,320 

Accumulated Depreciation (39,879) (25,818)

420,913 427,502 

Freehold Land

At Fair Value 23,146 23,143 

Buildings and Leasehold Improvements

At Fair Value 5,670 5,633 

Accumulated Depreciation (1,572) (1,072)

4,098 4,561 

Other Assets

At Cost 19,087 16,971 

Accumulated Depreciation (5,000) (3,033)

14,087 13,938 

Work In Progress - at Cost 68,485 49,118 

Total 1,109,918 1,071,625 
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9. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Property, Plant and Equipment – Reconciliation

Asset Group ($’000) Infrastructure  
Assets -  

Water
at Fair Value

Infrastructure  
Assets - 

Sewerage
at Fair Value

Freehold                     
Land at  

Fair Value

Buildings and  
Leasehold  

Improvements
at Fair Value

Other Assets
at Cost

Assets under  
construction

at Cost

Total

Net Book Value as at 1 July 2010 532,951 426,535 23,141 2,635 8,870 40,122 1,034,254 

Contributed Assets at Fair Value 2,017 5,196 - - - - 7,213 

Additions at Cost 1,679 958 - 14 2,935 54,383 59,969 

Movement in Rehabilitation Provision 5,325 - - - - - 5,325 

Transfers from Work in Progress 25,680 8,202 2 2,876 4,375 (45,387) (4,252)

Disposals (784) (71) - - (488) - (1,343)

Depreciation Expenses (13,505) (13,318) - (964) (1,754) - (29,541)

Net Book Value as at 30 June 2011 553,363 427,502 23,143 4,561 13,938 49,118 1,071,625 

Net Book Value as at 1 July 2011 553,363 427,502 23,143 4,561 13,938 49,118 1,071,625 

Contributed Assets at Fair Value 3,190 2,522 - - - 2,020 7,732 

Additions at Cost - 34 3 4 2,026 59,766 61,833 

Movement in Rehabilitation Provision (2,764) 842 - - - - (1,922)

Transfers from Work in Progress 38,484 3,894 - 33 417 (42,791) 37 
Disposals (33) (137) - - (235) - (405)

Transfers between asset classes (156) 163 - - (7) 372 372 
Depreciation Expenses (12,895) (13,907) - (500) (2,052) - (29,354)

Net Book Value as at 30 June 2012 579,189 420,913 23,146 4,098 14,087 68,485 1,109,918 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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9. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Depreciated replacement cost of Water and Sewerage Assets was determined at 1 July 2009  
by an independent valuation undertaken by GHD and Serck. Other assets are recorded at written down  
replacement cost as determined by owners. If property, plant and equipment were measured at depreciated  
replacement cost the carrying amounts at 30 June 2012 would be as follows:

As at 30 June 2012:
Asset Group   
($’000)

Infrastructure  
Assets -  

Water

Infrastructure  
Assets - 

Sewerage

Freehold  
Land

Buildings and  
Leasehold  

Improvements

Other  
Assets

Assets under  
construction

Total

Depreciated replacement cost 832,715 662,012 23,146 5,671 19,408 68,113 1,611,065 

Accumulated depreciation (38,294) (35,600) - (334) (4,012) - (78,240)

Net Carrying Amount 794,421 626,412 23,146 5,337 15,396 68,113 1,532,825 

As at 30 June 2011: 
Asset Group   
($’000)

Infrastructure  
Assets - 

Water

Infrastructure  
Assets - 

Sewerage

Freehold  
Land

Buildings Other  
Assets

Assets under  
construction

Total

Depreciated replacement cost 793,838 654,857 23,143 5,634 17,200 49,118 1,543,790 

Accumulated depreciation (37,360) (35,404) - (333) (3,715) - (76,812)

Net Carrying Amount 756,478 619,453 23,143 5,301 13,485 49,118 1,466,978

The Corporation deemed cost as at 1 July 2009 to be the depreciated replacement cost as noted above.  
If plant and equipment were measured using the cost model the carrying amounts at 30 June 2012 would be as follows:

As at 30 June 2012:
Asset Group   
($’000)

Infrastructure 
Assets -          

Water

Infrastructure  
Assets - 

Sewerage

Freehold  
Land

Buildings and 
Leasehold 

Improvements

Other  
Assets

Assets under 
construction

Total

Cost 1,558,899 1,134,117 23,146 5,671 19,575 68,113 2,809,521 

Accumulated depreciation (764,478) (507,705) - (334) (4,179) - (1,276,696)

Net Carrying Amount 794,421 626,412 23,146 5,337 15,396 68,113 1,532,825 

As at 30 June 2011: 
Asset Group   
($’000)

Infrastructure 
Assets -  

Water

Infrastructure 
Assets - 

Sewerage

Freehold  
Land

Buildings Other  
Assets

Assets under 
construction

Total

Cost 1,520,022 1,126,962 23,143 5,634 17,367 49,118 2,742,246 

Accumulated depreciation (763,544) (507,509) - (333) (3,882) - (1,275,268)

Net Carrying Amount 756,478 619,453 23,143 5,301 13,485 49,118 1,466,978
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 10. Intangibles

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Computer Software and Systems Development

At Cost 2,423 2,050 

Accumulated Amortisation (1,222) (332)

1,201 1,718 

Work in Progress - at Cost - 744

Total 1,201 2,462 

Intangibles Software
$’000

Work in
Progress

$’000

Total
$’000

Net Book Value as at 1 July 2010 402 1,412 1,814 

Additions at Cost - 887 887 
Transfers from Work in Progress 1,555 (1,555) -

Disposals - - - 
Amortisation Expenses (239) - (239)

Net Book Value as at 30 June 2011 1,718 744 2,462 

Net Book Value as at 1 July 2011 1,718 744 2,462 

Additions at Cost - - -

Transfers from Work in Progress 372 (372) -

Transfers between asset classes - (372) (372)

Disposals - - - 
Amortisation Expenses (889) - (889)   

Net Book Value as at 30 June 2012 1,201 - 1,201 

 11. Current and Non-current Liabilities

 11.1 Borrowings

  All borrowings have been transacted through the Tasmanian Public Finance Corporation (Tascorp).   
All borrowings are secured by a charge over revenue.

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Borrowings

Current Liabilities 49,404 30,455 

Non-current Liabilities 97,171 86,824 

Total Borrowings 146,575 117,279 

Credit Facilities

At 30 June 2012 the Corporation had access to the following finance facilities:

Master Loan Borrowing Limit – Tascorp

Facility 180,000 155,000 

Less used / committed (146,575) (117,279)

Balance 33,425 37,721 

Corporate MasterCard

Facility 200 200 
Less used / committed (11) (18)

Balance 189 182 

 11.2 Employee Benefits

Current:

Annual Leave (1) 3,465 2,790 

Long Service Leave (1) 2,199 2,037 

Accrued Day Off (1) 271 238 

Provision for Restructure (1) 228 1,200 

Defined Benefit Superannuation – RBF (refer note 13.1) 281 297 

6,444 6,562 

Non-current:

Long Service Leave (1) 1,005 754 

Defined Benefit Superannuation – RBF (refer note 13.1) 6,516 5,038 

Defined Benefit Superannuation – Quadrant (refer note 13.2) 713 703 

8,234 6,495 

Total (1) 14,678 13,057 
(1)  The employee benefits provision at 30 June 2012 included attributable on-costs and 

superannuation of $1,216,746 (2011: $963,890).

2012 2011

Employees Employees

Number of Full Time Equivalent Employees at year end 377 343 
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 11. Current and Non-current Liabilities (continued)

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

11.3 Payables

Trade Creditors 3,272 3,331 

Accrued Expenses 7,122 10,867 

Accrued Interest Expense 1,613 1,244 

Total 12,007 15,442 

11.4 Unearned Income

Current:

Government grants (refer note 3.4) 651 1,015 

Other 19 - 
670 1,015 

Non-current:

Government grants (refer note 3.4) 31,609 21,519 

32,279 22,534 

11.5 Other Liabilities

Current:

Provision for Rehabilitation 325 325 

Non-current:

Provision for Rehabilitation 3,078 5,000 

Total 3,403 5,325 

 Movement in Provision 

 Opening balance at 1 July 5,325 - 
 Additional provision recognised 1,217 5,325 

 Reduction from remeasurement (3,139) - 
 Payments - -

 Closing balance at 30 June 3,403 5,325 

 12. Members’ Equity

 The Corporation is owned by twelve Councils in Southern Tasmania as detailed in Note 21. Each owner’s share 
of equity was determined effective 1 July 2009 by its proportionate share of total net assets contributed to the 
Corporation. Each of the twelve owners hold one share in the Corporation, with each share having equal voting 
rights. Each share has an issue price of $1.

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

12.1 Retained Profits

Opening Balance 11,571 6,285 

Actuarial Loss on defined benefit plan (2,017) (358)

Tax effect of Actuarial Loss on defined benefit plan 604 108 

Share of other comprehensive income of associates (90) (35)

Dividends paid (refer note 7) (8,612) (7,521)

Profit after Income Tax Expense 12,135 13,092 

Closing Balance 13,591 11,571 

12.2 Contributed Equity

Opening Balance 909,547 909,547 

Movement for year - -

Closing Balance 909,547 909,547 

 

 13. Superannuation and Defined Benefit Plans

 Two defined benefit superannuation liabilities, Retirement Benefits Fund (RBF) and Quadrant, were transferred to 
the Corporation from Hobart Water and the twelve owner Councils on 1 July 2009. Disclosures regarding these two 
funds are provided in Note 13.1 and 13.2 respectively.

 The Corporation makes superannuation contributions for a number of its employees to another Quadrant Defined 
Benefits Fund, which is a sub fund of the Quadrant Superannuation Scheme. The Quadrant Defined Benefits Fund 
has been classified as a multi-employer sponsored plan. As the Fund’s assets and liabilities are pooled and are not 
allocated by employer, the Actuary is unable to allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between employers. 
As provided under paragraph 32(b) of AASB 119 Employee Benefits, the Corporation does not use defined benefit 
accounting for these contributions.

 At the present time the employer contributes 9.5% of employees’ gross income to the Fund. Assets accumulate 
in the scheme to meet member benefits as they accrue, and if assets within the scheme are insufficient to satisfy 
benefits payable, the employer is required to meet its share of the deficiency.

 Bendzulla Actuarial Pty Ltd undertook the last actuarial review of the Fund at 30 June 2011. The review disclosed 
that at that time the net market value of assets available for funding member benefits was $57,588,247, the value 
of vested benefits was $52,794,839, the surplus over vested benefits was $4,793,408, and the value of total accrued 
benefits was $57,330,437. These amounts relate to all members of the fund at the date of valuation and no asset or 
liability is recorded in the Quadrant Superannuation Scheme’s financial statements for employees.

 The financial assumptions used to calculate the Accrued Benefits for the Fund were:

 Net Investment Return - 0% p.a. for 2011/12 and 7.0% p.a. thereafter
 Salary Inflation - 4.0% pa
 Price Inflation - n/a
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 13. Superannuation and Defined Benefit Plans (continued)

 The actuarial review concluded that:

 1.  The value of assets of the Quadrant Defined Benefit Fund was adequate to meet the liabilities of the Fund in 
respect of vested benefits as at 30 June 2011.

 2.  The value of the assets of the Fund was adequate to meet the value of the liabilities of the Fund in respect of the 
accrued benefits as at 30 June 2011.

 3.  Based on the assumptions used, and assuming the employer contributes at the levels described below, the value 
of the assets is expected to continue to be adequate to met the value of the liabilities of the Fund in respect of 
vested benefits at all times during the period of up to 30 June 2014.

 The Actuary recommended in future the employer contribute 9.5% of salaries in 2012/13, 10.5% of salaries in 
2013/14, and 11% of salaries on 2014/15.

 The Actuary will continue to undertake a brief review of the financial position of the Fund at the end of each 
financial year to confirm that the contribution rates remain appropriate. The next full triennial actuarial review of 
the Fund will have an effective date of 30 June 2014 and is expected to be complete late in 2014 or early in 2015. 
The employer also contributes to other accumulation schemes on behalf of a number of employees, however the 
employer has no ongoing responsibility to make good any deficiencies that may occur in those schemes.

 During the year the employer made the required superannuation contributions for all eligible employees to an 
appropriate complying superannuation fund as required by the Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.

 13.1 RBF Defined Benefit Superannuation Liability

 The RBF is a defined benefit fund where members receive lump sum benefits on resignation, and lump sum or 
pension benefits on retirement (most of which is calculated as a multiple of the member’s final average salary), 
death or invalidity. The RBF has contributory members, compulsory preserved members and pensioners, and the 
defined benefits section of RBF is closed to new members. All new members receive accumulation only benefits.

 As at 30 June 2012, Mercer (Australia) Pty Ltd conducted a valuation of the past service and accrued liabilities for the 
Corporation within the RBF superannuation fund. Any shortfall between the values of these benefits and the market 
value of the RBF assets relevant for those members determines the value of any unfunded superannuation and is 
shown as a liability in the Statement of Financial Position. These amounts are included in the superannuation liability 
reported in Note 11.2. The funding status of the Corporation’s share of this scheme as at 30 June 2012, based on the 
actuarial valuation, is summarised as follows:

Principal Actuarial Assumptions as at Balance Date 2012 2011

Discount rate 3.45% 5.50%

Expected salary increase rate 3.50% 4.50%

Expected return on plan assets (1) 7.50% 7.50%

Expected pension increase rate 2.50% 2.50%

Expected rate of increase compulsory preserved amounts 3.75% 4.50%

       (1) The expected return on assets assumption is determined by weighting the expected long-term return for each asset class by the target allocation of 
assets to each asset class and allowing for correlations of the investment returns between asset classes. The returns used for each asset class are net 
of estimated investment tax and investment fees.

 The discount rate is based on the market yields on the longest dated Government Bonds as at 30 June 2012 
extrapolated to allow for the fact that the term of the liabilities exceeds the term of the longest Government Bond 
and adjusted to allow for investment tax, based on the expected rate of tax payable by the Fund. The decrement 
rates used (e.g. mortality and retirement rates) are based on those used at the last actuarial valuation of the Fund.

 13. Superannuation and Defined Benefit Plans (continued)

 13.1 RBF Defined Benefit Superannuation Liability (continued) 

 Operating Costs    

 Operating costs for the Fund as a whole were assumed to be incurred at the rate of 1.5% of salaries plus 1.0% of 
pensions in payment. This cost is allocated to each entity in proportion to assets.   

 Temporary Invalidity Expense     
  The cost of temporary invalidity benefits was assumed to be 0.2% of salaries of current contributory members. This 

cost has then been allocated to each authority in proportion to assets.

2012 2011

Fund Assets disclosure
Australian equities 29% 25%

Overseas equities 18% 22%

Property, infrastructure and related assets 33% 19%

Fixed interest securities 12% 13%

Other 5% 18%

Cash 3% 3%

 Assets are not held separately for each entity but are held for the Fund as a whole. The fair value of Fund assets 
was established by allocating the total Fund assets to each entity in proportion to the value of each entity’s funded 
liabilities, calculated using the assumptions outlined in this report.

 The fair value of Fund assets includes no amounts relating to any of the entity’s own financial instruments or any 
property occupied by, or other assets used by, the entity.

Statement of financial position results as at 30 June – Net liability $’000 $’000

Present value of defined benefit obligation 7,937 6,530 

Less fair value of plan assets 1,140 1,195 

Deficit (surplus) 6,797 5,335 

Unrecognised past service cost - -

Unrecognised net (gain) loss - -

Adjustment for Limitation on net assets - -

Net superannuation liability (Asset) 6,797 5,335 

Current net liability (Refer Note 11.2) 281 297 
Non-current net liability (Refer Note 11.2) 6,516 5,038 

6,797 5,335 
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 13. Superannuation and Defined Benefit Plans (continued)

 13.1 RBF Defined Benefit Superannuation Liability (continued)

Expense Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Employer service cost 112 84 

Expected return on plan assets (88) (71)

Expense recognised in employee related expenses 24 13 

Interest cost 349 304 
Expense recognised in net financing costs 349 304 

Total Expense recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 373 317 

Amounts Recognised in Other Comprehensive Income

Cumulative amount of actuarial (gains)/losses at end of prior year 5,153 4,759 

Actuarial (gains)/ losses recognised during the year 1,502 394 

Cumulative amount of actuarial (gains)/losses at end of current year 6,655 5,153 

Reconciliation of Fair Value of Scheme Assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of the year 1,195 1,041 

Estimated employer contributions 413 193 
Estimated contributions by plan participants 51 26 
Estimated taxes, premiums and expenses paid (12) (10)

Estimated benefit payments (531) (252)

Expected return on plan assets 88 71 

Expected assets at year end 1,204 1,069 

Actuarial gain (loss) on assets (64) 126 
Individual plan assets at year end 1,140 1,195 

Actual return on plan assets(1) 24 197 
(1) As separate assets are not held for each entity, the actual return includes any difference in the allocation to each entity.

Present Value of the Defined Benefit Obligations

Present value of defined benefit obligations at beginning of the year 6,530 5,857 

Current Service Cost 112 84 
Interest cost 349 304 
Estimated contributions by plan participants 51 26 
Estimated taxes, premiums and expenses paid (12) (10)

Estimated benefits paid (531) (251)

Expected defined benefit obligations at year end 6,499 6,010 

Actuarial (gain) loss on liabilities 1,438 520 

Present value of defined benefit obligations at end of the year 7,937 6,530 
The defined benefit obligation consists entirely of amounts from plans that are wholly or partly funded.

 

 13. Superannuation and Defined Benefit Plans (continued)

 13.1 RBF Defined Benefit Superannuation Liability (continued)

Historical information 2012
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Present value of defined benefit obligation at end of the year 7,937 6,530 5,857 

Less fair value of plan assets at end of the year 1,140 1,195 1,041 

Deficit/(surplus) 6,797 5,335 4,816 

Experience adjustments (gain)/loss – plan liabilities (93) 630 437

Experience adjustments (gain)/loss – plan assets 64 (126) 21 

 The experience adjustment for Fund liabilities represents the actuarial loss (gain) due to a change in the liabilities 
arising from the Fund’s experience (e.g. membership movements, salary increases and indexation rates) and 
excludes the effect of the changes in assumptions (e.g. movements in the bond rate).

 Expected Contributions – Financial Year Ending 30 June 2013

 The estimated employer contributions for the following financial year are $281,000.

 13.2 Quadrant Defined Benefit Superannuation Liability

 Quadrant is a defined benefit fund where members receive lump sum benefits on resignation and lump sum or 
pension benefits on retirement (most of which is calculated as a multiple of the member’s final average salary), 
death or invalidity. The Quadrant Fund has contributory members, compulsory preserved members and pensioners.

 As at 30 June 2012, Bendzulla Actuarial Pty Ltd conducted a valuation of the past service and accrued liabilities 
for the Corporation, within the Quadrant superannuation fund. Any shortfall between the values of these benefits 
and the market value of the Quadrant assets relevant for those members determines the value of any unfunded 
superannuation and is shown as a liability in the statement of financial position. These amounts are included in the 
superannuation liability reported in note 11.2. The funding status of the Corporation’s share of this scheme as at  
30 June 2012, based on the actuarial valuation, is summarised as follows:

Principal Actuarial Assumptions as at Balance Date 2012 2011

Discount rate gross of tax 2.90% 5.20%

Expected salary increase rate 3.50% 4.00%

Expected return on plan assets(1) 5.79% 5.78%
(1)The expected return on assets assumption is determined by weighting the expected long-term return for each asset class 
by the target allocation of assets to each asset class and allowing for correlations of the investment returns between asset 
classes. The returns used for each asset class are net of estimated investment tax and investment fees.

 The discount rate is based on the market yields on the longest dated Government bonds as at 30 June 2012 
extrapolated to allow for the fact that the term of the liabilities exceeds the term of the longest Government bond 
and adjusted to allow for investment tax, based on the expected rate of tax payable by the Fund. The decrement 
rates used (e.g. mortality and retirement rates) are based on those used at the last actuarial valuation of the Fund.
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 13. Superannuation and Defined Benefit Plans (continued)

 13.2 Quadrant Defined Benefit Superannuation Liability (continued)

Asset Allocations 2012 2011

Australian equities 30.9% 31.0%

Overseas equities 29.5% 27.0%

Property 13.2% 12.0%

Fixed interest securities 14.3% 13.0%

Other 8.6% 8.0%

Cash 3.5% 9.0%

 Assets are not held separately for each entity but are held for the Fund as a whole. The fair value of Fund assets 
was established by allocating the total Fund assets to each entity in proportion to the value of each entity’s funded 
liabilities, calculated using the assumptions outlined in this report.

 The fair value of Fund assets includes no amounts relating to any of the entity’s own financial instruments or any 
property occupied by, or other assets used by, the entity.

Statement of financial position results  
as at 30 June – Net liability

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Present value of defined benefit obligation at end of year 4,295 3,733 

Less fair value of Fund assets at end of the year 3,582 3,030 

Deficit (surplus) 713 703 

Unrecognised past service cost - -

Unrecognised net (gain) loss - -

Adjustment for Limitation on net assets - -

Net liability recognised in balance sheet at end of year 713 703 

Current net liability (Refer Note 11.2) - -

Non-current net liability (Refer Note 11.2) 713 703 

713 703 

Expense Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income

Current Service Cost 140 138 

Expected return on Fund assets (175) (166)

Expense recognised in employee related expenses (35) (28)

Interest cost 152 155 

Expense recognised in net financing costs 152 155 

Total Expense recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 117 127 

Amounts Recognised in Other Comprehensive Income

Cumulative amount of actuarial (gains)/losses at end of prior year (49) (13)

Actuarial (gains)/losses recognised during the year 515 (36)

Cumulative amount of actuarial (gains)/losses at end of current year 466 (49)

 13. Superannuation and Defined Benefit Plans (continued)

 13.2 Quadrant Defined Benefit Superannuation Liability (continued)

Reconciliation of Fair Value of Scheme Assets 2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Fair value of Fund assets at start of year 3,030 2,781 

Employer contribution 621 178 

Member contributions and transfers from the other funds 88 94 
Estimated operating costs - -

Benefit and tax paid (102) (342)

Expected return on Fund Assets 175 166 

Expected assets at year end 3,813 2,877 

Actuarial gain (loss) on assets (231) 153 

Fair value of Fund assets at end of year 3,582 3,030 

Actual return on plan assets(1) (55) 319 
(1) As separate assets are not held for each entity, the actual return includes any difference in the allocation to each entity.

Present Value of the Defined Benefit Obligations

Present value of defined benefit obligation at start of year 3,733 3,570 

Current service cost 140 138 

Interest cost 152 155 

Member contributions and transfers from other funds 88 94 

Actual operating costs (administration, insurance) - -

Benefits and tax paid (102) (342)

Expected defined benefit obligations at year end 4,010 3,615 

Actuarial (gain) loss on liabilities 285 118 

Present value of defined benefit obligation at end of year 4,295 3,733 

The defined benefit obligation consists entirely of amounts from plans that are wholly or partly funded.

Historical information 2012
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Present value of defined benefit obligation at end of the year 4,295 3,733 3,570 

Less fair value of plan assets at end of the year 3,582 3,030 2,781 

Deficit (surplus) 713 703 789 

Experience adjustment on liabilities 290 (169) 35 

Experience adjustment on assets (231) 153 100 

 The experience adjustment for Fund liabilities represents the actuarial loss (gain) due to a change in the liabilities 
arising from the Fund’s experience (e.g. membership movements, salary increases and indexation rates) and 
excludes the effect of the changes in assumptions (e.g. movements in the bond rate).

 Expected Contributions – Financial Year Ending 30 June 2013    

 The estimated employer contributions for the following financial year are $172,194
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 14. Commitments For Expenditure

14.1 Capital Commitments 2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Capital commitments totalling $15,578,000 under contracts as at  
30 June 2012 are not provided in the financial statements.

Payments within 1 year 15,578 10,161 

Payments 1 – 5 years - 45

Payments longer than 5 years - -

Total 15,578 10,206 

Reconciliation of Capital Commitments

Buildings and infrastructure 15,527 10,140 

Plant and equipment 51 66 
15,578 10,206 

14.2 Lease Commitments

Lease payments expensed during the period 1,613 1,305 

Operating Lease Commitment

Payments within 1 year 1,350 1,646 

Payments 1 – 5 years 6,533 6,328 

Payments longer than 5 years 8,466 7,670 

Total 16,349 15,644 

Future lease commitments represent payments due on current operating leases for the Corporations office 
accommodation, information technology and office equipment. The leases are cancellable but incur a penalty 
of the present value of future lease payments. There is no documented option to purchase the leased assets on 
expiry of the leases.

 15. Contingent Assets/Liabilities

 The Corporation was not aware of any contingent assets or liabilities at the time of finalising the financial report.

 16. Remuneration of Auditors

 The Corporation was not aware of any contingent assets or liabilities at the time of finalising the financial report.

Audit Services - Tasmanian Audit Office

Annual external audit fee 83 75 

Total fees, exclusive of GST 83 75 

 17. Compensation of Key Management Personnel

2012 2011

                       $                          $ 

Directors

Short-Term 159,466 144,912 

Post Employment (superannuation) 11,328 13,042 

Other Key Management Personnel

Short-Term 1,164,146 1,342,795 

Post Employment (superannuation) 99,679 110,244 

Other Long-Term - -

Termination Benefits 330,180 -

1,764,799 1,610,993 
Further details on the remuneration of key management personnel can be  
found in the remuneration report which forms part of the Directors’ Report.

 18. Related Party Disclosures

18.1 Board Directors

The Board Directors during the financial year ended 30 June 2012 and up to the date of this report were:

Mr Miles Hampton (Chair)

Mr Brian Bayley

Mr Nick Burrows

Ms Sarah Merridew

Dr Dan Norton

Dr Jane Sargison - Appointed 18 August 2011

Other expenses associated with the Board are as follows: 2012 2011

                       $                          $ 

Travel, accommodation and meals 21,737 21,276 

Director professional development 3,000 1,276 

24,737 22,552 
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 18. Related Party Disclosures (continued)  

 18.2 Key Management Personnel and Director Transactions

 There were no loans in existence by the Corporation to key management personnel 
and their related parties during the financial year.

 A number of key management persons, or their related parties, hold positions in other entities that 
result in them having control or significant influence over the financial or operating policies of those 
entities. A number of these entities transacted with the Corporation in the reporting period. In addition, 
a number of key management persons, or their related parties, transacted with the Corporation in the 
reporting period as residents or owners of properties in the region in which the Corporation provides 
water and sewerage services. The terms and conditions of the transactions with key management 
personnel and their related parties were no more favourable than those available, or which might 
reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-key management personnel. 

 Where matters for resolution were discussed in respect to the above transactions, 
Directors were not present in meetings.

 18.3 Transactions with Other Related Parties

 The Corporation owns a one third share in Tasmanian Water and Sewerage Corporation (Common Services) 
Pty Ltd, trading as Onstream. Onstream provides various services to the Corporation. Refer to Note 22 
for description of services provided and for financial information of the investment in this associate. 
Transactions were not conducted on an ‘arm’s length’ basis as the owner corporations were involved in the 
setting of prices and prices were only charged on a cost recovery basis. All services are charged monthly 
with settlement within 31 days. Total purchases (exclusive of GST) and amounts payable were:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Service Fees 5,851 6,046 

Reimbursement of Other Costs 1,900 1,665 

Accounts Payable 798 387 

Sales 275 448 

Accounts Receivable 16 -

 

 18. Related Party Disclosures (continued)  

 18.3 Transactions with Other Related Parties (continued)

 The Corporation is owned by twelve Councils in southern Tasmania as detailed in note 21. The Councils make 
payments to the Corporation for water and sewerage services and other miscellaneous services. Transactions 
are on an arm’s length basis in the normal course of business and on commercial terms and conditions.

Sales for the year ended 30 June 2012 Water and 
Sewerage 

Sales
$’000

Other                
Services 

$’000

Amount  
Receivable  

as at 30 June 12
$’000

Brighton Council 64 11 13 
Central Highlands Council 27 32 9 
Clarence City Council 67 30 -

Derwent Valley Council 50 - 523 

Glamorgan Spring Bay Council 33 - 48 

Glenorchy City Council 273 54 47 

Hobart City Council(1) 374 143 126 
Huon Valley Council 55 5 13 
Kingborough Council 53 12 13 
Sorell Council 95 18 102 
Southern Midlands Council 28 15 -

Tasman Council 5 - 1 
Total 1,124 320 895 
(1) During the year 30 June 2012, Hobart City Council also made a contribution of $1,959,144 towards the construction of a new reservoir.

Sales for the year ended 30 June 2011 Water and 
Sewerage 

Sales
$’000

Other                
Services 

$’000

Amount  
Receivable  

as at 30 June 11
$’000

Brighton Council 39 39 7 

Central Highlands Council 25 - 16 

Clarence City Council 104 298 274 

Derwent Valley Council 51 26 526 

Glamorgan Spring Bay Council 16 13 34 

Glenorchy City Council 254 19 -

Hobart City Council 377 248 47 
Huon Valley Council 116 8 12 
Kingborough Council 71 31 137 
Sorell Council 67 13 - 
Southern Midlands Council 27 17 5 

Tasman Council 5 - 11 

Total 1,152 712 1,069 

The Corporation makes payments to the Councils for rates, community service 
obligations and other miscellaneous services. Transactions are on an arm’s length basis 
in the normal course of business and on commercial terms and conditions.
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 18. Related Party Disclosures (continued)  

 18.3 Transactions with Other Related Parties (continued)

Purchases for the year ended 30 June 2012
Council 

Rates
$’000

Other  
Council  

Services 
$’000

Amount  
Payable as  

at 30 June 12
$’000

Brighton Council 24 64 -

Central Highlands Council 3 15 - 
Clarence City Council 190 51 18 

Derwent Valley Council 39 22 1 

Glamorgan Spring Bay Council 11 16 - 

Glenorchy City Council 50 533 33 

Hobart City Council 3 390 11 

Huon Valley Council 18 36 - 
Kingborough Council 23 31 - 
Sorell Council - 31 - 
Southern Midlands Council 10 36 - 

Tasman Council - - - 
Total 371 1,225 63 

Purchases for the year ended 30 June 2011
Council 

Rates
$’000

Other  
Council  

Services 
$’000

Amount  
Payable as  

at 30 June 11
$’000

Brighton Council 32 104 3

Central Highlands Council 3 17 -

Clarence City Council 188 269 -

Derwent Valley Council 43 225 3

Glamorgan Spring Bay Council 10 13 -

Glenorchy City Council 51 790 -

Hobart City Council - 723 21

Huon Valley Council 1 74 -

Kingborough Council 21 75 -

Sorell Council - 12 -

Southern Midlands Council 11 31 -

Tasman Council - - -

Total 360 2,333 27

 19. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flow

19.1  Reconciliation of Net Cash Flow From  
Operating Activities to Operating Result

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Net Profit before Income Tax Equivalents 17,359 18,907 

 
Depreciation and Amortisation Expense 30,243 29,780 

Grants of assets (525) (257)

Loss on Sale of Non-current Assets 190 895 
Contributed Assets (7,731) (7,211)

Share of Net Profit of Associate (25) (79)

Changes in Assets and Liabilities:

(Increase) Decrease in Receivables (1,812) (3,291)

(Increase) Decrease in Inventory (1,007) (514)

(Increase) Decrease in Prepayments 100 (205)

Increase (Decrease) in Payables 1,526 5,572 

Increase (Decrease) in Employee Benefits (417) 1,453 

Income Tax Equivalents Paid (4,889) (6,051)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 33,012 38,999 

19.2  Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents 2012 2011

$’000 $’000

Cash Management Account with Tascorp 8 242 

Cash at Bank and on Hand 1,316 5,923 

Cash as per Statement of Cash Flows 1,324 6,165 
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 20. Financial Instruments

 20.1  Significant Accounting Policies 

  The Corporation’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
The Corporation uses different methods to measure and manage the different financial risks. The Board 
has the primary responsibility to set appropriate policies to manage these risks. This note presents 
information about the Corporations exposure to each of these risks and the objectives policies 
and processes for measuring and managing risk.

  Details of significant accounting policies and methods adopted in the recognition and measurement with respect to 
each class of financial assets and liabilities are included under Notes 3.7, 3.9, 3.16, 3.17, 3.18, 3.20, 3.21 and 3.22.

 Categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at balance date were:

Financial Instruments 30 June 2012 
Carrying
Amount

$’000

30 June 2011
Carrying
Amount 

$’000
Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1,324 6,165 

Loans and Receivables 32,582 30,262 

Total Financial Assets 33,906 36,427 

Financial Liabilities

Payables at amortised cost 12,007 15,680 

Borrowings at amortised cost 146,574 132,960 

Total Financial Liabilities 158,581 148,640

 Net income/(expense) on financial instruments were:

As at 30 June 2012 Interest
Income/

(Expense)
$’000

Fee
Income/

(Expense)
$’000

 
Impairment

Loss
$’000

 
 

Total
$’000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 165 (10) - 155

Loans and Receivables - - (792) (792)

Total Financial Assets 165 (10) (792) (637)

Financial Liabilities

Payables at amortised cost - (1) - 89 

Borrowings at amortised cost (8,300) (1,087) - 1,241 

Total Financial Liabilities (8,300) (1,088) - 1,330 
Net income/(expense)  
on financial instruments (8,135) (1,098) (792) 693 

 20. Financial Instruments (continued)

 20.1  Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
 
As at 30 June 2011 Interest

Income/
(Expense)

$’000

Fee
Income/

(Expense)
$’000

 
Impairment

Loss
$’000

 
 

Total
$’000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 400 (18) - 382 

Loans and Receivables - - (785) (785)

Total Financial Assets 400 (18) (785) (403)

Financial Liabilities

Payables at amortised cost - (1) - (1)

Borrowings at amortised cost (6,895) (979) - (7,874)

Total Financial Liabilities (6,895) (980) - (7,875)
Net income/(expense)  
on financial instruments (6,495) (998) (785) (8,278)

 20.2  Interest Rate Risk

 The objectives of the Corporation’s interest rate risk management policy are to contain the potential adverse 
financial impact from unfavourable movements in interest rates, predominantly associated with interest 
bearing liabilities, and to capture the potential for reducing costs by management of the Corporation’s debt.  
The Corporation’s interest rate risk is managed by setting borrowings with terms and maturity structures 
which reflect the medium and longer term capital requirements and tariff structures of the Corporation. 
The aim of interest rate risk management is to minimise the longer term cost of borrowings by adopting 
debt portfolio maturities and to spread debt between fixed and floating instruments. Debt is sourced from 
Tascorp and is managed within a range of Board approved limits with debt levels and interest being monitored 
regularly. The Corporation has not engaged hedging as part of its financial risk management strategy.

The Corporation has minimal exposure to cash flow interest rate risks through its cash and deposits, 
term deposits and bank overdrafts that are at floating rates.
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20. Financial Instruments (continued)

20.2  Interest Rate Risk

The following table details the Corporation’s exposure to interest rates risk as at 30 June 2012.

As at 30 June 2012
Variable  

interest rate
$’000

Fixed  
interest rate 
maturing in:

< 1 year
$’000

Fixed  
interest rate 
maturing in:

1 – 5 years
$’000

Fixed  
interest rate 
maturing in:

> 5 years
$’000

Non-interest  
bearing       

$’000

Total carrying  
amount 

$’000

 
Weighted  

average 
interest rate

Financial Assets

Cash at Bank 1,316 - - - - 1,316 3.40%

Cash Management Account 8 - - - - 8 3.50%

Receivables - - - - 32,582 32,582 -

Total 1,324 - - - 32,582 33,906 

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings - Tascorp (25,450) (23,954) (60,850) (36,320) - (146,574) 6.87%

Payables - - - - (12,007) (12,007) -

Total (25,450) (23,954) (60,850) (36,320) (12,007) (158,581)

Net Financial (Liabilities) Assets (24,126) (23,954) (60,850) (36,320) 20,575 (124,675)

As at 30 June 2011
Variable  

interest rate
$’000

Fixed  
interest rate 
maturing in:

< 1 year
$’000

Fixed  
interest rate 
maturing in:

1 – 5 years
$’000

Fixed  
interest rate 
maturing in:

> 5 years
$’000

Non-interest  
bearing       

$’000

Total carrying  
amount 

$’000

Weighted  
average 

interest rate

Financial Assets

Cash at Bank 5,923 - - - - 5,923 4.65%

Cash Management Account 242 - - - - 242 4.66%

Receivables - - - - 28,584 28,584 -

Total 6,165 - - - 28,584 34,749 

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings - Tascorp (18,583) (11,872) (57,034) (29,790) - (117,279) 6.44%

Payables - - - - (15,681) (15,681) -

Total (18,583) (11,872) (57,034) (29,790) (15,681) (132,960)

Net Financial (Liabilities) Assets (12,418) (11,872) (57,034) (29,790) 12,903 (98,211)
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20. Financial Instruments (continued)

20.2  Interest Rate Risk (continued)

The table opposite highlights that the Corporation’s total exposure to variable interest rates at 30 June 2012 
was a net liability of $24,126,000 (2011: $12,418,000).

There is sufficient volatility in interest rates and it is reasonably possible rates may change over the next 12 months.  
The table below shows the impact on profit after tax and equity on a 0.25% increase and a 0.25% decrease  
in interest rates.

Interest Rate Sensitivity Profit after tax 
higher/(lower)
0.25% increase

2012
$’000

Profit after tax 
higher/(lower)

0.25% decrease
2012
$’000

Profit after tax 
higher/(lower)

1% increase
2011
$’000

Profit after tax 
higher/(lower)

1% decrease
2011
$’000

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Interest Bearing Liabilities – Variable (42) 42 (87) 87 

Total (42) 42 (87) 87 
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 20. Financial Instruments (continued)

  20.3 Credit Risk

 Exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of a counterparty with respect to the Corporation’s 
financial assets. Financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables.  
As identified in note 20.2, the Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date  
was $33,906,000 (2011: $34,749,000).

   Credit risk is measured at fair value.  All receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis. Trade receivables 
consist of a large number of customers and industries over the region. The Corporation does not hold any collateral 
over any trade receivable. The Corporation currently records a large proportion of past due receivables that will be 
subject to a newly developed and more timely credit control process.

   For cash at bank it is the Corporation’s policy to only deal with Australian banks with a minimum Standard and 
Poor’s long term credit rating of A. The rating of counterparties are monitored on an ongoing basis.

   Provision for impairment is recognised for trade receivables when there is objective evidence that the receivable is 
uncollectable. Usually this refers to default of payment, customer hardship or other financial difficulty.

  The ageing of the Corporation’s trade receivables at reporting date was:

30 June 2012 30 June 2011
Receivables Gross

$’000
Impaired

$’000
Gross
$’000

Impaired
$’000

Not past due 23,225 (90) 17,717 -

0 - 30 Days 1,373 (26) 2,332 -

31 - 60 Days 341 (15) 1,459 -

61 - 90 Days 174 (16) 384 -

91 Days and over 9,304 (1,690) 7,806 (1,114)

Total 34,417 (1,835) 29,698 (1,114)

 20. Financial Instruments (continued)

  20.5 Foreign Exchange Risk

 The Corporation is exposed to an insignificant foreign currency risk relating to purchases 
of supplies and consumables from overseas. While there is a limited amount of purchases 
denominated in foreign currencies the risk is further reduced by a short-term time frame 
between commitment and settlement. Should a significant foreign currency exposure arise the 
Corporation is authorised to enter into a derivative instrument to limit the effect of foreign currency 
movements. The Corporation did not enter into any derivative instruments during the year.

  20.6 Net Fair Value

 At balance date the Corporation did not hold any financial instruments which have been measured at  
fair value and recognised on the Statement of Financial Position. At 30 June the Corporation was not carrying  
any financial assets or liabilities which were tradeable on an active market with reference to quoted market 
prices. The Corporation had not entered into any derivatives or forward foreign currency contract at balance date. 
Accordingly there are no financial instruments to report in the level 1,2 or 3 of the fair value hierarchy for  
30 June 2012 (2011: Nil). The Corporation has not disclosed a movement schedule for level 3 items in  
the hierarchy as there have been no transactions for the year ended 30 June 2012 (2011: Nil). 
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities at year end were:

 
Category Total carrying amount per the 

Statement of Financial Position
Aggregate net fair value

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Financial Assets

Cash at Bank 1,316 5,923 1,316 5,923 

Cash Management Account 8 242 8 242 

Receivables 32,582 28,584 32,582 28,584 

Total 33,906 34,749 33,906 34,749 

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings – Tascorp Loans 146,575 117,279 154,195 118,687 

Payables 12,007 15,442 12,007 15,442 

Total 158,582 132,721 166,202 134,129 

 The methods and assumptions used to determine these net fair values 
of the financial assets and liabilities are as follows: 

   -   Cash, cash management and term deposits – the carrying amount approximates fair value due to the 
short-term nature of the instrument;      

   - Receivables, trade creditors and accruals – the carrying amount approximates fair value;

   -  Borrowings are carried at amortised cost which is different to net fair value due to market rate sensitivity 
of the debt portfolio as at 30 June 2012. Borrowings held until maturity are paid at the carrying amount.

 20.7 Capital Management Policy

 The Corporation has established a three year Capital Expenditure Program necessary to achieve our business 
and Regulatory objectives. The Corporation manages capital to achieve those objectives within financially 
prudent gearing thresholds while being mindful of providing acceptable returns to shareholders.

 20.4 Liquidity Risk

 Liquidity Risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
The Corporation manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and banking facilities and by 
continuously monitoring forecasts and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles 
of financial assets and financial liabilities.

 The following table identifies the contractual maturities on rollover of financial liabilities at reporting date. 
The figures are undiscounted cash flows, including both principal and interest payments.

As at 30 June 2012 3 months 
or less
$’000

3 - 12  
months

$’000

1 - 2  
years
$’000

2 - 5  
years
$’000

> 5  
years
$’000

Borrowings - Tascorp 37,495 19,079 23,675 54,246 40,900 

Payables 12,007 - - - -

Total 49,502 19,079 23,675 54,246 40,900 

As at 30 June 2011 3 months 
or less
$’000

3 - 12  
months

$’000

1 - 2  
years
$’000

2 - 5  
years
$’000

> 5  
years
$’000

Borrowings - Tascorp 22,685 15,736 26,074 45,103 32,192 

Payables 15,681 - - - -

Total 38,366 15,736 26,074 45,103 32,192 
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 21. Controlling Entities

 The Corporation operates as an entity under the Corporation Act 2001 and in accordance with the Water and 
Sewerage Corporations Act 2008 (WSCA) and the Water and Sewerage Industry Act 2008 (WSIA). Southern Water 
is owned by the following twelve Councils in southern Tasmania: Brighton Council, Central Highlands Council, 
Clarence City Council, Derwent Valley Council, Glamorgan Spring Bay Council, Glenorchy City Council, Hobart City 
Council, Huon Valley Council, Kingborough Council, Sorell Council, Southern Midlands Council and Tasman Council.

 22. Investment in Associate

 On 9 December 2008 the Corporation was issued one of three shares in Tasmanian Water and Sewerage 
Corporation (Common Services) Pty Ltd, trading as Onstream. The other two shares are owned by Tasmanian 
Water and Sewerage Corporation (North-Western Region) Pty Ltd, trading as Cradle Mountain Water and 
Tasmanian Water and Sewerage Corporation (Northern Region) Pty Ltd, trading as Ben Lomond Water. All ordinary 
shares shall rank pari passu in all respects, except for the dividend rights attaching to the shares which are 
determined by the proportion of sales by Onstream to each owner. The Corporation’s share of Onstream’s profit 
for the year is also determined on this basis.

 Onstream provides various services to all three owners including information technology, billing, payroll, 
procurement, billing and financial services. For details on the costs of these services, refer Note 18.3. 

 The following table shows summarised financial information for Onstream, together with a reconciliation of 
movements in the carrying amount of the Corporation’s investment. Onstream’s figures are for the same year end 
date as the Corporation’s accounts.

Summarised financial information of Onstream 2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Revenue 16,367 16,154 

Profit before income tax 74 232 

Income tax equivalents (expense) (22) (70)

Profit after income tax 52 162 

Other comprehensive income (loss) after tax (189) (73)

Total comprehensive income for the period (137) 89 

Corporation’s share of profit before tax 35 112 

Corporation’s share of income tax equivalents expense (10) (33)

Corporation’s share of profit after tax 25 79 

Corporation’s share of other comprehensive income (loss) after tax (90) (35)

Corporation’s share of total comprehensive income for the period (65) 44 

Assets 10,311 10,260 

Liabilities (10,301) (10,113)

Net Assets 10 147 

Reconciliation of carrying amount of investment

Carrying amount at beginning of the year

Share of surplus (deficit) for the year 73 29 
Carrying amount at end of the year (65) 44 

8 73 

 23. Subsequent Events

 There have been no matters or circumstances that have arisen since the end of the 
financial year that have significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the Corporation, 
its operations, results of operations or state of affairs in future financial years.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 30 June 2012



www.southernwatertas.com.au

Southern Water
ABN 65 133 654 976 
169 Main Road, Moonah, Tasmania 7010
PO Box 1060, Glenorchy, Tasmania 7010
Email: info@southernwatertas.com.au
Telephone: 13MYWATER (13 6992)


